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Welcome
On behalf of NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) we are pleased to
present our annual report and accounts for 2016-2017. This will be the fourth annual report
we have published since becoming a statutory body in April 2013.
The CCG is a clinically led statutory body responsible for the planning and commissioning of
health care services in the West Essex districts of Epping, Harlow and Uttlesford. Within this
population at the close of this financial year 308,763 people were registered with the districts
GPs.
NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) is a membership organisation
made up of 35 general practices who work together to ensure the best possible healthcare is
available to everyone in west Essex.
We are responsible for the healthcare needs of the local population and work with Essex
County Council (ECC), local healthcare professionals, District Councils, voluntary
organisations and other stakeholders to ensure local people have high quality health
services that meet their needs.
This year we have seen quality and operational challenges with local providers which has
consumed significant amount of managerial time to support their recovery. Despite this we
have continued to make progress on key strategic initiatives; in particular the development of
Neighbourhood Teams, and an Accountable Care Partnership. We’ve also joined forces with
health organisations in Hertfordshire to produce a sustainable transformation plan (STP) to
better tackle some of the big issues. This has brought closer working with collegues in East
& North Hertfordshire CCG who have a significant interest in the future of the hospital in
Harlow. At a more local level we have radically changed the care for people affected by
stroke, to improve outcomes, and set the basis for a much improved childrens and family
service which will start from April 2017.
Overall, our population’s health is similar to, or better than, the national average. However,
there are significant variations between districts, communities and practice areas. Harlow is
ranked in the bottom third most deprived areas in England. The life expectancy gap between
the most and least deprived is -0.2 years for men in Uttlesford compared with 4.1 years in
Harlow. The differences for women are wider at -0.9 and 4.5 years respectively. Further
Harlow has the second highest percentage of the working age population claiming benefits
across Essex; Employment and Support Allowance, and Incapacity Benefits comprise the
largest group of claimants.
All three of our districts are expected to experience significant growth in population over the
coming years. Though our current population of older people is currently below the national
average, this group are set to see major percentage growth over the next decade –
particularaly in the districts of Uttlesford and Epping. Harlow and Epping are the most
ethnically diverse districts in Essex but still less diverse than England as a whole.
There is significant variation in deprivation between districts .
These changes are driving the need to improve the quality of place-based primary and
secondary care.
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The local hospitals that serve our population have significant quality and operational
challenges, with Whipps Cross University Hospital (North London), Princess Alexandra
Hospital NHS Trust (Harlow) and Addenbrooke’s Hospital (Cambridge) currently having
inadequate CQC ratings, as well as our mental health provider North Essex Partnership
trust. The future of Princess Alexandra Hospital is a significant issue and the CCG’s has
been working to support efforts to improve both its current performance and a sustainable
plan for the future.
One of the keys to improve the sustainability of our local health system is to improve the coordination of primary and community care. This year the CCG has helped GPs to organise
into seven neighbourhood hubs, as the basis for the improvement needed. These
neighbourhood teams consist of GP practices, community health services, mental health,
voluntary sector, care providers and social care working together to improve patient care at a
local level. Further, from the 1 April 2017, West Essex CCG will have full Delegated Primary
Care Commissioning status. This means that the CCG adds the responsibility for buying and
organising care provided by GP surgeries to its role, enabling us to support the improved
coordination we need
Significant progress has also been made on the creation of an Accountable Care
Partnership between the providers of health and care in our area. This is designed to
improve the way health services are delivered by reducing some of the organisational
barriers to joined up service and allowing better sharing of information.
Please do read more about some of these developments and challenges in the rest of this
report.
We’d like to thank all our partners in supporting our work to improve the health and care
available for people in west Essex. We have made good progress this year developing a
better more integrated local health and care system; something everyone can be proud of.

Dr Rob Gerlis
Chair
NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group

Deborah Fielding
Accountable Officer
NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group
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PERFORMANCE REPORT
1.1

An overview: About NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group

ABOUT OUR BUSINESS
Key information
Headquarters
Communities covered
Population (registered with a West Essex
CCG GP)
Budget (for 2016-2017)
Number of GP practices
Number of staff employed by the CCG

Spencer Close, St Margaret’s Hospital,
The Plain, Epping, CM16 6TN
Epping Forest, Harlow and Uttlesford
308,763
£384.9 million
35
106.80 (Full Time Equivalent)

Where we buy your healthcare
The following table gives a summary of the main providers that we commissioned services
from in 2016-2017:

Type of
healthcare
NHS Hospital
services

Independent
Sector (IS)
hospitals
providing NHS
services and
non-essential
services.
Primary Care
and Community
services

Where we buy it from on your behalf
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust (PAH)
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Barts Health NHS Trust
Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust
Queen's Hospital Romford (Barking, Havering and Redbridge University
Hospitals NHS Trust)
(The above are the main acute providers and there are many others in
the region which are used depending on patient choice and where
specialist services are provided).
Ramsay Health Care UK (The Rivers Hospital)
Aspen Healthcare Ltd (Holly House)
Spire Healthcare Group Plc
Nuffield Health
Partnership of East London Co-operatives Ltd (PELC)
Integrated Care 24 Ltd (IC24)
South Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (SEPT) –
Adults
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) – Children
St Clare Hospice – End of Life/Hospice
Essex Cares – Reablement
Stellar Healthcare Ltd
Uttlesford Health Ltd
Nursing Homes under the Continuing Healthcare Framework, plus spot
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purchasing when required.
Papworth Trust
Marie Stopes UK
Fertility Services under multiple contracts
Low financial value voluntary sector contracts
Mental Health
North Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust – MH
(MH), Learning Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust – Primary
Disability (LD)
Care Psychological Therapies
services, and
North East London NHS Foundation Trust -EWMHS
Emotional
Wellbeing and
Mental Health
Services
(EWMHS)
Specialist
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
health services
Various London hospitals
University College London Hospitals, and other London Hospitals
Emergency
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust – A&E
health services
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust – A&E
and transport
Barts Health NHS Trust – A&E
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust

Commissioning Support Units (CSUs) and hosted arrangements
CSUs provide capacity and resources to clinical commissioners (if required) as an extension
of their local team. This approach aims to help achieve economies of scale and allow CCGs
to focus on direct commissioning of services for their patients.
CSUs are not statutory bodies and therefore have no statutory functions. They are
accountable to clinical commissioners for the services that are commissioned.
i.
From 1 April 2015 we bought and continue to buy a range of commissioning support
services from North East London CSU (NELCSU). These services include:
o Financial Services
o Information management and technology (CCG & GP)
o Human Resources (HR) and Workforce

ii.
iii.

iv.

For further information about NELCSU visit www.nelcsu.nhs.uk
From 20 May 2016 - the CCG entered into a collaborative agreement for the
provision Business Intelligence support from Essex County Council.
From 1 April 2016 the CCG commissioned:
 Payroll services from SERCO Group Plc; and
 Continuing Healthcare: Previously Unassessed Periods of Care (PUPoC)
Retrospective Reviews and Appeals from Arden Gem CSU
Services hosted by a lead CCG:
In order to provide economies of scale CCGs across Essex have agreed to commission
services on behalf of other CCGs. The services below are hosted by a CCG on behalf of
West Essex CCG -
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Service

CCG Host

Mental Health Interpersonal Psychotherapy

North East Essex CCG

Collaborative Mental Health Commissioning Function

North East Essex CCG

Children’s Continuing Healthcare

Mid Essex CCG

Information Governance (including Freedom of
Information Requests)

Basildon and Brentwood CCG

Integrated Emergency Preparedness Resilience and
Response Team for the Essex CCGs

Mid Essex CCG

Services West Essex CCG (WECCG) host on behalf of other CCGs
Service

Areas covered

Children and Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing and
Mental Health Service

Hosted by WECCG across
Essex CCGs and Councils

NHS 111 call handling and clinical triage

Hosted by WECCG across
North Essex

Primary care services (GPs, dentists, opticians and pharmacies)

NHS England (NHSE) is the commissioner for general practitioners, dentists, opticians and
community pharmacists. Throughout its history, the CCG has also commissioned some
enhanced services from general practices such as heart failure management, diabetes
management and leg ulcer management.
The CCG has worked very closely with NHS England Midlands & East regional team, in
supporting quality improvement within general practices, such as patient access to GP
practices, outcomes of Care Quality Commission visits, incidents and complaints. We
undertake visits to general practices over the course of the year to support improvements in
these areas and assist in forward planning in areas such as information management and
technology, workforce and premises.
During the course of 2016-2017 the CCG has been preparing for assuming delegated
responsibility for commissioning of GP primary care, with effect from 1 April 2017. While the
legal liability for primary care will remain with NHSE, the CCG will buy and plan the care that
people receive in GP practices.
GP primary care co-commissioning offers the opportunity to fully utilise the knowledge of
GPs and build on the relationships that the CCG has developed. The CCG is already
responsible for buying and planning the majority of healthcare services, including hospital,
community, ambulance and mental health services. By commissioning services in general
practice the CCG has more control of the wider NHS budget, enabling it to increase its
investment on primary and community services.

7

This new responsibility will also lead to the development of a more collaborative approach to
designing local solutions in primary care. The CCG sees it as the beginning of a longer
journey towards place based commissioning - where different commissioners come together
to jointly agree commissioning strategies and plans, using pooled funds, for services for a
local population.

Our Key Priorities
Our Strategic Objectives for 2016-2017
1. Commission high quality and safe care.
2. Deliver real and sustainable health and care service transformation towards a vision
of more locality based integrated care services.
3. Ensure that local people are at the heart of all that we do - working in partnership to
support individuals and communities in taking personal responsibility for their own
good health and wellbeing.
4. Continue to develop as a leading commissioning organisation of quality health and
care services.
5. Continue to collaborate with our partners building effective partnerships that will
support and underpin how we work as an integrated community.
Our Key Risks and Issues
Our key risks for 2016-2017 have been the following:

1.

A&E and Access in the Princess Alexandra Hospital Area:
The CCG faced considerable activity pressures during 2015-2016 and anticipated
that these would continue into 2016-2017. Additionally as the CCG’s main provider
implemented its new patient record system, it is likely that this will lead to further
improvements in coding and counting which could result in higher charges per unit of
activity.

Symptomatic of the wider pressures seen across the NHS, the CCG identified six
significant areas of risk in the delivery of its constitutional and key performance
standards in 2016-2017. These risks are not unique to West Essex:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

A&E 4 Hour Standard
18 Week Referral to Treatment (RTT) Standard
Cancer 62 Day Standard
Ambulance Response Times
Dementia Diagnosis Standard
Access to IAPT Services

Each risk was recorded within the CCG’s Corporate Risk Register with mitigating
actions and recovery progress overseen, and scrutinised, at the CCG’s Membership
Committee's.
Examples of the solutions implemented to address the risks were wide ranging and
included:
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Commissioning additional clinical capacity
Increased joint working and agreement of Remedial Action Plans (RAPs) with
providers
Joint working with regulators and national improvement bodies
Clinical review and redesign of patient pathways
Business Intelligence (BI) solutions
Enforcement of contractual levers where appropriate

Whilst performance remains challenged in some areas, progress has been seen
across each of the six risks:
1.
2.

3.

4.
5.
6.

2.

A&E performance has improved in year, but will remain as a risk
through 2017-2018
The RTT Standard is now compliant with the national target at
Princess Alexandra Hospital and has been maintained since August
2016. We continue to monitor the on-going recovery plans at
Addenbrookes and Barts Health
The Cancer 62 Day Standard is now compliant with the national target
at Princess Alexandra Hospital and has been maintained since June
2016. We continue to monitor the on-going recovery plans at
Addenbrookes and Barts Health
Ambulance Response Times have improved in year, but remain the
subject to an East of England Regional Recovery Plan
The Dementia Diagnosis national target is expected to be achieved in
early 2017-2018
The IAPT Access national target was narrowly missed (0.27%) in
2016-2017. Recovery Plans have been agreed for next year

Workforce for the local Health and Social Care System
West Essex continues to face challenges in recruiting and retaining staff across the
health and social care system, particularly within professional groups such as
medicine, nursing and allied health professionals. Analysis undertaken in 2016-2017
will continue to help us in understanding trends. Focus will be maintained on
integration to better utilise the workforce we have and improve our patients'
experience.
In light of the referendum vote in favour of the UK leaving the European Union, West
Essex CCG is keeping a close watch on the impact changes may have on the
recruitment of key staff within provider organisations.

3.

Continuing Healthcare
The number of people being awarded Continuing Care packages has grown
significantly over the past few years. This presents a financial risk which is driven by
the increasing numbers of older frail people.

4.

Transformation & Efficiency Targets
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The key risk for the CCG in 2016-2017 was achieving the locally agreed critical
milestones for progress towards the triple aim of the NHS England Five Year Forward
View. This triple aim comprises expectations for improved population health, quality
of care, and cost-control. The vehicle for identifying these local milestones and
developing and implementing plans to achieve them is the Hertfordshire and West
Essex Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).
The CCG was required to make efficiency savings of £11.34 million in 2016/17. This
represented a significant challenge for the organisation. An action plan for
achievement of this target was developed, implemented and monitored through the
Finance and Performance Committee, Executive Committee, and clinically led
programme boards. This process ensured that any risks to the CCG meeting its
strategic objective of commissioning high quality care were safely mitigated.
In order to mitigate financial risks from increased demand and treatment costs, and
following contractual monitoring the CCG provided for an inflation uplift of 1.7% and a
demographic uplift of 1.1% in its budgets. The risk from increased demand stemmed
from changing population profiles in west Essex and new drug approvals from the
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE).
In addition to mitigating risks of increasing demand, the CCG also needed to address
unwarranted variation in demand in comparison with similar populations across
England. To do this, the CCG has implemented the RightCare programme in every
locality through west Essex, identifying priority areas for action from national data
comparisons. Through this, the CCG developed and implemented a local plan to
address the quality and sustainability of general practice in west Essex, addressing
particularly workforce and workload issues. This is helping us to meet our objective of
delivering real and sustainable health and care service transformation in more
locality-based integrated care services.

Care Quality Commission (CQC) reports for Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust (PAH),
Whipps Cross, Addenbrookes and North Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation
Trust.

The Princess Alexandra Hospital: CQC rating October 2016 “Inadequate”
The CQC carried out a comprehensive inspection on 28 and 29 June 2016 to assess
if improvements had been made in core services following the July 2015 inspection in
which the Trust was rated as requires improvement. Following this 2016 inspection,
the trust was rated as “inadequate”.
Caring of services domain was rated as “good”; effectiveness of services was rated
as “requires improvement”. The other domains of Safe, responsive and well led were
rated “inadequate”. The Trust has been placed into special measures with ongoing
oversight and support from the CCG, NHS Improvement and NHS England. A
comprehensive Quality improvement plan and Quality strategy have been developed
and implemented by the Trust which identify and prioritise actions to address the
areas of concern.
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Link to PAH CQC report: http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RQW
Whipps Cross Hospital: CQC Rating December 2016 “Inadequate”
Following an inspection by the CQC in March 2015 the site was rated as
“Inadequate” against all domains with the exception of “Caring” which received a
rating of “requires improvement”. The CQC carried out further inspections of this site
during announced inspections between 26 and 29 July 2016; and further
unannounced visits on 2 and 4 August 2016. During these inspections, concerns
were identified regarding patient safety and the quality of care. Following the last
inspection, significant changes were made to the leadership of the organisation at
both an executive and site level.
Whipps Cross is part of Barts Health NHS Trust which continues to have an overall
rating of “inadequate” since inspections during 2015.
Links to:
CQC report for Whipps Cross hospital: http://www.cqc.org.uk/location/R1HKH
CQC report for Barts Health: http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/R1H
Addenbrookes Hospital: CQC Rating December 2016 “Good”
Inspected by the CQC during April / May 2015, the Trust received an overall rating of
“Inadequate”. The CQC carried out a full follow up inspection between 20 and 22
September 2016 with an unannounced inspection on 29 September 2016 following
which the Trust overall received a rating of “good”.
Caring of services domain was rated as “outstanding”, however responsive was rated
as “requires improvement”.
Link to Addenbrookes CQC report: http://www.cqc.org.uk/location/RGT01
North Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (NEPFT): CQC
Rating December 2016 “Requires Improvement”:
Following an inspection in 2015 the Trust was rated as “requires improvement”
overall. Further inspections were carried out during 2016 and the Trust remains rated
as “inadequate” from the December 2016 report. North East Essex CCG as lead
Commissioner continues to monitor and seek evidence of assurance from a variety of
means to ensure the quality improvement plan is implemented and improved practice
is embedded and sustained.
Link to NEPFT CQC report: http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RRD

South Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (SEPT): CQC Rating
June to July 2015 "Good":
SEPT were inspected by the CQC during June and July 2015. The trust received an
overall rating of “Good”. The inspection was across all SEPT services and therefore
encompassed far more than the community services commissioned by the CCG. The
Trust was rated as “good” against all domains, with the exception of “safe” which
received a rating of “requires improvement”. An action plan was developed and is
continued to be implemented to address improvements required within the report
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(noting that none of the ‘must dos’ highlighted within the report were related
tocommunity services). Many areas of good practice were identified as part of the
CQC inspection. SEPT and North Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation
Trust (NEPFT) were dissolved on 31 March 2017 following a merger to form Essex
Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (EPUT) on 1 April 2017.
Link to CQC report:
http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAD6898.pdf
Mid Essex Hospital NHS Trust (MEHT)
MEHT currently has a CQC rating of “Good” overall. This is as a result of an
inspection visit on 14-16 June 2016 and an unannounced inspection on 30 June
2016. The report was published on 1 December 2016.
This rating reflects the significant work and changes to practice that all staff at MEHT,
led by the interim Chief Executive (formerly the Chief Nurse), have made since the
previous inspection in November/December 2014 and March/April 2015 when the
Trust was found to require improvement, with responsiveness being rated
inadequate.
The only inspection area at MEHT receiving a rating of less than good in 2016 was
“safe”, which remained assessed as requires improvement. The issues leading to this
assessment included:

Medicines management practices required further monitoring to ensure that
all medicines were appropriately managed, prescribed and administered to
ensure that patients received medicines in a timely manner.

Mandatory training rates, particularly those in advanced life support, were not
in line with the Trusts expectations.

Risk assessments for the management of sepsis was not consistent with the
Trust sepsis pathways.

Recruitment of emergency department staff remains an issue for the Trust.

The Trust has an action plan in place to continue addressing the concerns raised by
the inspection, this will be monitored and reviewed by the quality team at Mid Essex
CCG.
In terms of specific services: Emergency and Urgent care “Requires improvement”;
all other areas were “good” with Burns and Plastics achieving a rating of
“outstanding”.
There were many areas of outstanding practice identified during the inspection and
the CQC noted again (as they had in 2015) that “The trust was a caring organisation
throughout, and staff were passionate about their work and caring towards patients”
Where the CCG is the Lead Commissioner for a Contracted Service, it is the Quality
Committee which reviews and reports on the CQC assessments for those providers,
assesses the providers' subsequent improvement plans and reports to the Board on
the strength of the improvement plans. Where the CCG are Associates to another
contract, assurance is monitored through the Lead Commissioner’s Quality
Committee and reporting to associates.
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1.2

Performance Analysis

STRATEGIC DIRECTION
Vision
Our vision Working together for a healthy west Essex sets out our ambitions for our local
population – it is underpinned by the following principles:•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Putting quality first - Patient safety, clinical effectiveness, improved clinical
outcomes and care for people as people.
Significantly shifting the point of care – the right care is provided at the right time
and in the right place.
Integration between health and social care as a key enabler for delivery.
Connected transition of care and support between professionals and organisation.
Provision built around and responsive to the different needs of our communities
and localities.
Maximise productivity and efficiency where appropriate.
Enable individuals to take responsibility for their own health and retain
independence where appropriate.

Accountable Care Partnership: A Health and Care System Vision
We are working together with our partners as a West Essex health and care system (Essex
County Council, Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust, South Essex Partnership University
NHS Foundation Trust, North Essex Partnership Trust, Stella Healthcare and Uttlesford
Health) to achieve our collective vision to better meet the population demands through
shared goals and outcomes whilst bringing financial stability. The vehicle to achieve this
vision is the further development of an emerging system governance model of an
Accountable Care Partnership (ACP) and a Strategic Commissioning Partnership to facilitate
the joining up of our commissioning and provision of health and care services for the people
who live in west Essex.
This vision is implicit in our Sustainability and Transformation Plan which has combined
Herts and West Essex footprints, and for which the high level plan was submitted to NHS
England on the 15 April 2015 with the Sustainability and Transformation Plan produced
2016.
For the west Essex health and care system we will be (pending outcome of partners’
governance processes):• Joining up services across health and social care, physical and mental health,
primary and secondary care, and within the community.
• Creating a single health and care commissioner with a single pooled budget,
combined outcomes framework and single contracts.
• Adopting an all-age approach to population health management i.e. using data to
segment populations and target care delivery on a pro-active and preventative basis
with the Right Care model as the core approach.
• Commissioning on a capitated basis over a 5 year term to an agreed set of
outcomes, moving away from the current contractual models and financial flows.
• Making rapid progress on increased data sharing and a single care record.
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Strategic Developments
The traditional divide between primary care, community services, and hospitals – largely
unaltered since the birth of the NHS – is increasingly a barrier to the personalised and
coordinated health services patients need. And just as GPs and hospitals tend to be rigidly
demarcated, so too are social care and mental health services even though people
increasingly need all four.
Over the next five years and beyond the NHS will increasingly need to dissolve these
traditional boundaries. Long term conditions management is a central task of the NHS;
caring for these needs requires a partnership with patients over the long term rather than
providing single, unconnected ‘episodes’ of care. As a result there is now quite wide
consensus on the direction we will be taking.







-

Increasingly we need to manage systems – networks of care – not just organisations.
Out-of-hospital care needs to become a much larger part of what the NHS does.
Services need to be integrated around the patient. For example a patient with cancer
needs their mental health and social care coordinated around them. Patients with
mental illness need their physical health addressed at the same time.
We should learn much faster from the best examples, not just from within the UK but
internationally.
And as we introduce them, we need to evaluate new care models to establish which
produce the best experience for patients and the best value for money.
Accountable Care Partnerships

The Accountable Care Partnership is the collective vision of health and social care partners
to create a system which consistently delivers the highest quality of care and a seamless
patient experience for people living across the county.
This vision is supported by plans to develop a single accountable care organisation: this is
an overarching organisation that sits above a joined up health and social care system made
up of a number of different providers, from health services to the local council. The aim is to
help teams across different organisations to work more effectively together, with the same
shared goals.
The CCG’s initial aims for this new model for shared ownership of the delivery of care and
patient outcomes are to:

•
•
•

Simplify the patients journey through the health and social care system.
Improve co-ordination of complex patients across health and social care.
Improve ease of access to a service for both patients and providers
Use risk stratification to manage the existing and emerging clinical needs of the
population.

-

Neighbourhood Teams

Neighbourhood teams bring health and social care professionals together within a defined
area to work through local GP practices, and deliver integrated health care as close to home
as possible.
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Neighbourhood working can ensure that patients maintain their independence for longer and
enjoy a better quality of life – by cutting down on the need to be admitted to hospital and by
helping to reduce delays in patients leaving hospital.There are 7 neighbourhood teams
based at a number of GP practices across the district (Epping and Ongar, Waltham Abbey,
Buckhurst Hill and Chigwell, Loughton, Harlow, North Uttlesford and South Uttlesford) Each
team consists of GP practices, community health services, mental health, voluntary sector,
care providers and social care; working together to improve patient care at a local level. Via
the neighbourhoods the following have been achieved:















Social care workers are now co-located in Epping and Ongar neighbourhoods, and
this will be extended to other neighbourhoods during 2017-2018. This supports
collaborative working between health and social care and offers a more integrated
and improved service for patients.
All neighbourhoods have facilitated improved working relationships with care homes,
this includes improved patient management, communications and education and
support for care homes staff. Loughton neighbourhood have developed a new
pathway to improve communications with care homes and GPs which has been
adopted across other neighbourhoods.
Neighbourhoods have agreed to move focus to delivery of proactive care from
reactive care for patients who will be supported to self-care and access services to
maintain their health and wellbeing.
Care Home managers in Waltham Abbey are piloting direct referrals to the mental
health team to provide support for patients with dementia. This will improve the
response times for support rather than the requirement for the GP to refer.
GP practices in the North Uttlesford neighbourhood are working together to develop
plans to provide more local services at Saffron Walden Community Hospital.
Harlow practices have engaged with, and utilised the skills and knowledge of
domiciliary care providers to ensure that carers are better able to support patients
within their homes. Care providers are now able to directly access the integrated
hospital discharge team, to support discharge plans.
St Clare’s hospice are now using the SystmOne system (which is utilised by many
west Essex practices and the community services provider South Essex Partnership
University NHS Foundation Trust) to improve integration with community services
and GP practices supporting patients at end of life.
Older patients are now able to access a comprehensive frailty assessment at
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust, Frailty Assessment Service from a multidisciplinary team without the need to attend A&E - this will result in an improved
patient experience.
We have worked with our district council colleagues to offer improved support to
those who reside in sheltered housing accommodation.

Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Across England, NHS and social care organisations have been encouraged to work more
closely together to deliver more effective, joined-up and affordable services.
In Hertfordshire and west Essex councils, health and ambulance services, GPs, patient
representative groups and the voluntary and community sector have produced a
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) focusing on the next five years.
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The STP for Hertfordshire and west Essex is called ‘A Healthier Future’. This document
summarises that plan and has been produced to encourage as much public debate and
involvement in the development of the STP as possible.
The CCG played a key role in the publication of the STP document. The primary objective
has been to ensure that the document reaches the widest possible cross section of the local
community and relevant stakeholders. The digital communications lead collaborated with
teams at East and North Hertfordshire CCG and Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS
Foundation Trust to produce a short engagement video introducing the public to the STP.
The video has been distributed via YouTube, social media channels and the ‘A Healthier
Future’ website.
My Care Record
My Care Record is a system that securely connects different health and care computer
systems. When a patient’s records are requested, it collects information from across primary
and urgent care systems and allows healthcare professionals to view this information.
A number of public engagement activities have been carried out relating to the My Care
Record programme. This has included gaining input from patients, members of the public,
practice managers, GPs and staff. This was achieved via focus group and face-to-face
sessions, to ensure that the design and content of the materials produced are accessible to
all members of the public.
Engagement material produced for the My Care Record programme included posters,
postcards and frequently asked questions documents, which have been distributed to GP
surgeries, libraries, hospitals and other relevant organisations. The programme has also
been publicised widely across Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust and partners using
methods such as screen savers, intranet content, newsletters and stands at the hospital’s
Annual General Meeting.
Special materials have been developed for a range of audiences, including easy read text
versions of promotional materials. Engagement events have also been carried out with
patient and special interest groups across west Essex.
The project has required partnership working with East and North Hertfordshire CCG in
order to enable wider adoption of the system.
Involving and Listening to Local People
The ethos at the CCG is that we care passionately about our local NHS and delivering the
best quality care for local people. Central to this is listening to patients, carers, local people
and organisations to understand local needs and to take their views into account when
creating and shaping services to meet local needs: for local people, their families and their
friends.
We work with the following groups:
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-

The West Essex CCG Sounding Board and the Princess Alexandra Patient Panel
Local Health Forums
Health and Wellbeing Boards
Healthwatch Essex
Local and District Council Colleagues
Neighbouring CCGs and Acute Trusts
Community Services Provider
Voluntary and Community Sector colleagues
Local Primary, Junior and Secondary Schools

Approach to engagement
Despite having an established public engagement model, the CCG wanted to explore how
we could engage with more people in more innovative ways. After months of research,
discussion, extensive channel testing and consultation with a wide range of internal and
external partners, we launched our new approach. There are now many more opportunities
for local peoples’ voices to be heard in our decision making – all the way to board level. This
offers a greater, richer range of ways to be involved with our decision making and connect
with our clinical and non-clinical senior decision makers.
We are now working with a wider range of people - giving voice to people that might not
normally engage. Our plans have been endorsed by Healthwatch Essex and are already
seeing us co-producing work with local people representing, for example: carers, children
and young people, older people, people with long term conditions, people with disabilities,
colleagues from the voluntary sector, migrant and ethnic minorities.
Winter Warmer Health and Wellbeing Events for Older People
The Winter Warmer Health and Wellbeing events were designed to target the older
community in west Essex with health and wellbeing information.
These events were held during October and November 2016 in Epping, Harlow and
Uttlesford. They provided a fantastic opportunity to share information with this section of the
community, including talks from key agencies such as St John Ambulance, local
pharmacies, Essex Police, and Essex County Fire & Rescue Service. There were also
information stands delivered by other partner organisations. Attendees received information
relating to topics such as scam and fraud awareness, independent living, and keeping safe
in the home. They also had the opportunity to take part in a seated exercise class and
received a complimentary lunch. It is estimated that 350 members of the public attended and
many of the visitors stated that they would pass relevant information on to their friends and
neighbours following the event.
Health help Now West Essex
The Health Help Now app has been developed as part of the Evening and Weekend GP
service that launched in west Essex last year. It enables members of the public to find the
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right service for their health needs. The app provides advice and guidance and signposts
members of the public to relevant health and care services locally.
Health help Now has been developed by Stellar Healthcare together with South East
Commissioning Support Unit with input from west Essex GPs and other health professionals.
It lists common symptoms and offers advice and suggestions for treatment.
The Health help Now website and app gives detailed advice and guidance on common
ailments and symptoms. The tool also recommends the best options for treatment – showing
which nearby services are open at any given time. In order to establish an audience for the
app the communications team have carried out public engagement events across west
Essex, which will be delivered during the coming months. The CCG’s social media channels
are also being used to encourage downloads and use of this service.
Other Public Engagement Campaigns for this Period have included:





















Carers Week
Patient Participation Awareness Week
Men’s Health Week
Diabetes Week
Love Your Liver Week
World Sickle Cell Day
Running Down Dementia
Myeloma Awareness Week
Deafblind Awareness Week
National Childhood Obesity Week
Be Clear On Cancer – Respiratory
Change for Life – 10 Minute Shake up
Childhood Obesity Awareness
World Hepatitis Day
Movember
Sepsis
Stay Well This Winter
Reflect Domestic Abuse Campaign
European Antibiotics Awareness Day
Self-care week

HOW YOUR MONEY WAS SPENT
The CCG had a total available resource of £384.932 million in 2016-2017, against which it
spent £377.299 million and achieved a surplus of £7.633 million, thereby ensuring delivery
against the CCG’s statutory duty to break even, and the nationally prescribed target of
achieving a surplus of 1% of turnover plus a fully unutilised 1% non-recurrent reserve.
The annual mandated surplus was higher than the control total surplus of £3.867 million
originally planned by £0.050m due to achievement of transformation & efficiency savings of
£8.7m.
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As set out in the 2016-2017 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1
percent reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the monies
that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be
released for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation priorities to the extent that
evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means.
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS
England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be spent. Therefore,
to comply with this requirement, West Essex CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom
line, resulting in an additional surplus for the year of £3.716m. Subject to NHS England
approval, this additional surplus will be carried forward for drawdown in future years.
As a consequence of this, the overall surplus, including the unspent 1% non-recurrent
monies was £7.633m.
The below chart summarises how the total of £377,299 million was spent. Categorisation of
expenditure shown in the chart is consistent with the categories utilised for Finance and
Performance Committee reporting.
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Annual Expenditure 2016/17
(values in £millions)

Better Care Fund
£19.3m
5.1%

Corporate Non
Running Costs
£8.0m
2.1%

Corporate
Running Costs
£5.7m
1.5%

Other Expenditure
£7.0m
1.85%

Other Expenditure
Primary Care Services
Winter Pressures
Other Commissioned Services
Total

Nursing Care
£18.9m
5.0%
Community
Services Contracts
£23.5m
6.2%

£m
£1.7
£1.7
£3.5
£7.0

Acute
Commissioning
£217.6m
57.7%

Mental Health
£34.3m
9.1%
Prescribing
£43.1m
11.4%

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 2016-20171
Capital expenditure
The CCG received £0.063 million of capital resource from NHS England during 2016-2017
for projects related to IT. This allocation was underspent by £0.001 million at year end.

The CCG managed within its maximum cash drawdown limit during 2016-2017.
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The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the
due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
The NHS aims to pay at least 95 per cent of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within
agreed contract terms.
There has been continued good performance against this measure with 97.0% of NHS
invoices by number paid within target and 99.2% by value. Also, 96.3% of Non-NHS invoices
were paid within the target by number and 97.5% by value.
Please reference the Annual Accounts 2016-2017 note 6.1
Performance process
The CCG has a robust performance management regime for its internal performance against
national and local targets as well as key clinical and financial indicators. These targets and
indicators are monitored on a monthly basis by the Executive Team and the Finance and
Performance Committee, with each target having an identified senior lead. This is reported
to each Board meeting in public, to provide an open and transparent view of performance in
all areas of the business.
The Board receives a summary finance report at every public meeting. A full finance report is
reviewed in detail by the Finance and Performance Committee.
Achievement of transformation and efficiency savings
During 2016-2017 the CCG has been working with NHS and social care colleagues across
north Essex in developing system-wide transformation plans setting out how we will respond
to the challenging financial climate in which the NHS and the wider public sector will operate
over the coming years.
Of the 2016-2017 gross efficiency target of £12.5 million, the CCG achieved £8.7 million (70
per cent achievement).
Commissioning Activities
A key priority for the CCG is to ensure that maximum value for money is being achieved
through effective commissioning arrangements, as the majority of the CCG’s expenditure is
spent on commissioning healthcare services. While all healthcare providers are required to
deliver a continuous programme of efficiency and productivity improvements, the CCG also
must demonstrate that it is properly considering the health needs of the local population and
commissioning those services that address those needs.
An analysis of our key contracts by value is as follows:
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Provider
Princess Alexandra NHS Trust
Cambridge University Hospital NHS FT
Barts Health NHS Trust
South Essex Partnership FT
North Essex Parnership FT
Mid Essex NHS Trust
EOE Ambulance Trust

2016/17
Outturn
£
104,270,521
23,307,132
21,600,146
19,736,651
19,633,994
13,585,903
11,235,219

The CCG continues to ensure it achieves value for money in all of its contracting activities
through its performance management framework including the monitoring of a range of key
indicators and performance reviews with all key service providers.
Counterfraud
The Local Counter Fraud Service is provided by Mazars Public Sector Internal Audit Limited.
Under the NHS Standard Contract introduced in 2012-2013, all organisations providing NHS
services are required to have appropriate anti-fraud arrangements in place. In 2015, NHS
Protect published ‘Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption’ to assist
organisations with this process. These standards incorporate a requirement that the CCG
employs or contracts a qualified person or persons to undertake the full range of anti-fraud
work. The CCG is committed to ensuring fraud or corruption does not proliferate within the
organisation.
The Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) reports to the Director of Finance, Contracting
and Performance and attends Audit Committee meetings to report on the work achieved.
The LCFS works to ensure that counter fraud is integrated into all CCG activity in a positive
way.
Throughout the past financial year the counter fraud culture has continued to be promoted
in the CCG and work has been undertaken against each of the four key sections that follow
NHS Protect’s National Counter Fraud strategy to include ‘Strategic Governance’, ‘Inform
and Involve’; ‘Prevent and Deter’ and ‘Hold to Account’.
The CCG takes a positive stance in countering fraud against the organisation and the NHS
in general, and actively seeks to ensure that an appropriate, yet proportionate response is
taken to allegations of fraud and corruption. Where appropriate the most appropriate
sanctions and redress are applied.
Audit Arrangements
Ernst & Young LLP are our external auditors appointed to carry out our statutory audit.
The total fee for 2016-2017 was £54,075 which is unchanged from 2015-2016.
Internal Audit
Mazars LLP are our internal auditors appointed to carry out our non-statutory audits.
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Looking Forward
Based on the revised allocations formula, the CCG had a shortfall against the fair shares
target and had commenced the 2016-2017 financial year with a -1.1% shortfall against its
target funding allocation (DFT) which equated to approximately £4.157 million.
Movement towards the funding target has been addressed in the revised allocations for
2017-2018 with a residual funding shortfall of £2.334million (-0.6% DFT) in 2017-2018.
Growth funding in 2017-2018 is £11.0 million or 2.9% in comparison to the allocation in
2016-2017. Of this, £7.479 million was designated against commitments to meet the
business rules stipulated by NHS England and Sustainability and Transformation Plans
requirements, including provider inflation uplifts, minimum contingency reserve
requirements, funding commitments in respect Mental health services and increased costs
associated with the revised tariff for acute hospital services and estates market rent charges.
For the first time the CCG will have delegated responsibility from NHS England for Primary
Care budgets in 2017-2018 with a value of £39.357m and will be working closely with NHS
England in order to ensure that the financial risk to the CCG is minimised.
Whilst the revision in allocations has provided a greater degree of certainty in developing
financial plans it is clear that the CCG will need to continue to deliver significant efficiencies
and transformation over the coming years so that it can continue to deliver both the national
and local outcomes and priorities in respect of healthcare and wellbeing.
The value of transformation and efficiency savings required by the CCG in 2017-2018 to set
a balanced budget is £12.1 million or 3.0 per cent of Revenue Resource Limit before
investments.
In order to deliver on this very significant challenge, the CCG is working towards a model of
integrated commissioning so that services are joined up across all commissioners including
Essex County Council to ensure the best possible care for our population is provided within
the resource that we have available.
The CCG is working with system partners including Hertfordshire to take forward and
develop the medium term sustainability and transformation plan during the early part of
2017-2018.
A significant part of this future integration of services is the nationally mandated Better Care
Fund which required the CCG to pool a minimum of £18.7 million of resource into an
integrated fund with the County Council from 2015-2016. The CCG will meet the minimum
funding requirement in 2017-2018.
Looking ahead to 2017-2018 and beyond, NHS England has provided indicative allocations
to 2020-2021. The growth in indicative allocations will be approximately 3.0% per year until
2020-2021 when it will rise to 4.7%. These allocations remain is subject to confirmation by
NHS England.
Based on the indicative allocations, the CCG will still be marginally underfunded against the
fair shares target until 2019-2020 financial year.
The CCG is committed to ensuring a sustainable environment for health services in west
Essex.
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Stroke Services
We have seen a massive improvement since both a development of stroke services and
since they received a £1million investment from West Essex CCG. Considerable work has
taken place to reconfigure stroke services to align with national recommendations.
The majority of west Essex stroke patients are conveyed by the ambulance service to
Queens’s Hospital Romford (BHRT), with a small number going to Broomfield, Lister &
Addenbrookes hospitals. Stroke patients remain at the receiving hospital for both hyper
acute and acute care, they are then if required discharged with early supported discharge or
repatriated to Beech ward, St Margaret’s Hospital (SMH), Epping for stroke rehabilitation.
We are very encouraged to see an increase in quality of stroke care for our patients as
monitored by Royal College of Physicians National Clinical Audit on Stroke (SSNAP) and we
would expect for this improvement to continue across the stroke pathway.
Local people and staff were overwhelmingly supportive of our plans and understood the
need to invest in a hyper acute pathway to improve clinical outcomes, despite potentially
having to travel to a specialist unit further away. Our original plans had to be amended due
to the national shortage of stroke consultants. To this end, patients will now receive ongoing
stroke care at the hospital they are conveyed to for their hyper acute stay and will not be
repatriated for acute stroke care and rehabilitation to Princess Alexandra.
Children and Maternity Services
•

The community asthma pathway, launched in December 2015 has seen a steady
increase in numbers throughout the years 2016 and 2017 meaning children are being
managed in their home by specialist nurses, rather than attending hospital. A
dedicated community asthma nurse will be in place from 1 April 2017 to focus and
develop on this.

•

There has been a 39% increase in GP referrals to the community children’s nursing
team on the high impact pathways. This is due to significant engagement with GPs.
The pathways allow GPs to refer children to the community, rather than sending
them to A&E. The community service is 7 days a week which is particularly helpful
when GPs wish for a child to be followed up over the weekend. Feedback from
parents on the efficiency and quality of the service has been very positive.

•

We have successfully procured an integrated children’s community service across
health and social care with Essex County Council (ECC). This has combined 17
contracts held by ECC and 3 contracts held by the CGG (across 8 providers) into a
single contract with Virgin Care and Barnados to cover universal provision across
Essex and enhanced specialist service provision in west Essex. Some of the services
that will be incorporated are:





Healthy Child Programme
Healthy Schools
Partnership nursing
Family Hubs

The contract will commence on 1 April 2017 and is intentionally longer than
traditional contracts to allow for whole system change. For west Essex in particular
the services will be easier for families to navigate (feedback on the current system is
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that it is difficult due to fragmentation), the service includes new posts and additional
provision based on local need and the measure of its performance will be outcome
based, meaning a focus on what is important to the child and family rather than
traditional “bean counting” of performance.
•

Following a review of paediatric continence provision, we launched a community
paediatric continence outreach service to fill a gap in delivery in family homes and
community clinics. Referrals into the service have exceeded what was planned as
the nurses have proactively taken children off of hospital waiting lists to assess and
manage them within the service. Feedback from GPs and paediatricians is that this is
a welcomed and quality service. Due to its success, this service will continue into
next year.

•

We have formed a Local Maternity System with Hertfordshire following the
Sustainability and Transformation Plan footprint. Priorities for maternity services have
been agreed and strategic plans are being worked on to ensure continuity of care for
local women who receive maternity care from Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS
Trust.

•

Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust Maternity services were the only area to
receive “outstanding” in their last Care Quality Commission inspection.

Children and Young People’s Mental Health
Our five-year local transformation plan, Open up, Reach out, is making big changes in
Southend, Essex and Thurrock to improve the emotional wellbeing and mental health of
children and young people.
In year 1 of the plan, we launched a single integrated service across seven CCGs and three
local authorities. We are aiming to give all children and young people the best possible
support for their mental health and emotional wellbeing with more services available and
consistent high quality care.
We increased the annual budget by around 25% with an additional £3.3 million a year to
make it easier to get expert help when needed. Children and young people, parents and
schools can now contact mental health services directly through a single telephone number
or email address. Before 1 November last year, only a professional such as a GP or social
care team could make a referral.
Some 200 staff have made the move from four previous organisations and a fragmented
tiered system to a single new service with much more emphasis on prevention, early
intervention and resilience for children, families and communities.
The refresh of the local transformation plan, showing what has been achieved so far and the
priorities for action over the next four years is available on the CCG website:
http://westessexccg.nhs.uk/news/docs/news-events/news-article-documents/2909-mentalhealth-services-for-essex-open-up-reach-out-oct-2016
While we have made significant progress in year 1, this is a five-year transformation with
much-needed improvements to be made in years 2 to 5. This plan is our commitment to
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easier access to care, shorter waiting times and measurable improvements in the emotional
wellbeing and mental health of our children and young people.

GP Provider Companies
Stellar Healthcare and Uttlesford Health are the two GP Provider companies in west Essex.
33 of our 35 GP practices are shareholders in these organisations. The GP Provider
Companies form an integral part of the Accountable Care Partnership Model which seeks to
develop multi-disciplinary teams across neighbourhoods in support of the delivery of the
System Transformational Plan.
During 2016-2017 we have seen the GP provider companies of Stellar Healthcare and
Uttlesford Health continue to provide the services commissioned in 2015-2016 and provide
more services to the benefit of patients in west Essex. Here are the key developments:
Stellar Healthcare and Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust continue to work together to
provide a primary care interface in A&E freeing up capacity for emergency cases to be
handled more effectively. The service has been further extended during 2016-2017 to
include a community nurse as part of the integrated team and currently re-directs 30% of
patients self-presenting at the front door during the hours of operation to other services
including the primary care hubs which operate evenings and weekends. Stellar Healthcare
has also worked flexibly to support additional pressures over the peak holiday periods.
The GP Evening and Weekend Service provided by Stellar Healthcare and Uttlesford Health
continues to offer routine appointments for registered patients on weekday evenings,
Saturdays and Sundays. Over 1000 appointments are offered weekly from 6 locations
across west Essex. The uptake of weekend appointments remains high at 80% and uptake
of evening appointments also remains high at 90% in December 2016. Working age adults
continue to be the highest demographic group of patients using the service at 65%. 96% of
patients responding to a patient survey were satisfied with the service and 95% of patients
said they would recommend the service. The service supports the wider west Essex system
to maximise capacity within primary care, for example the service accepts patients redirected from A&E, over the Christmas period the service supported the GP Out of Hours
service and the service offered a telephone triage for nursing homes to reduce unplanned
admissions to hospital. Stellar Healthcare became Finalists at the Health Service Journal
Awards in 2016 within the category of Using Technology to Improve Efficiency.
The self-help tool, Health Help Now was launched in December 2016 to support patients to
find the right local service for their needs. The website and free app lists common symptoms
for people of all ages and helps patients find the best place for treatment. In December
there were 733 new unique users of the website, and 359 new unique app users.
Uttlesford Health continues to provide community dermatology, cardiology, gynaecology and
vasectomy services based at Saffron Walden Community Hospital using local GPs with a
Specialist Interest. Recent patient satisfaction surveys have shown that patients are very
satisfied with these community services.
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Stellar Healthcare continues to provide community dermatology, ophthalmology and
orthopaedics services at sites in Harlow and Epping delivered by local GPs with a Specialist
Interest. They are also supporting GPs with referrals and signposting to community services
as appropriate and managing referrals between GP practices for minor surgery.
In June 2016 Stellar Healthcare and Uttlesford Health commenced community services
supporting patients with a suspected deep vein thrombosis (DVT). This service enables
patients to receive initial tests within their GP practice or a neighbouring GP practice before
being referred to hospital for any necessary scans. Patients are also able to receive initial
and ongoing treatment as required locally. This pathway has prevented the need for
patients to attend A&E and receive care more locally.
In 2015 Stellar Healthcare was successful in bidding for a three year pilot to test the role of
clinical pharmacists working in general practice. Three pharmacists started working across
four west Essex GP practices in Autumn 2016. The clinical pharmacists have been working
as part of the general practice team to resolve day-to-day medicine issues and consult with
and treat patients directly. This includes providing extra help to manage long-term
conditions, advice for patients on multiple medications and providing better access to health
checks. Having a clinical pharmacist in the GP practices means GPs can focus their skills
where they are most needed, for example on diagnosing and treating patients with complex
conditions. The work will support general practice as part of the GP Workforce 10 Point Plan.
Building on the successes so far, Stellar Healthcare are planning to put in a bid for additional
clinical pharmacists for practices in 2017 as part of wave 2 of the clinical pharmacists in
general practice scheme.

Winter Planning
In accordance with guidance published by the Department of Health, the delivery of urgent
care services across west Essex is overseen by the A&E Local Delivery Board (LDB) for
west Essex. The LDB is chaired by the Chief Executive of Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS
Trust and is attended by West Essex CCG and East and North Hertfordshire CCG, all
provider organisations as well as representatives from NHS England and the NHS Trust
Development Authority. The LDB monitors key areas of service delivery and performance
such as the four hour A&E patient constitution standard and ways to support the system
through the winter demand period. Additionally the LDB approves and monitors the LDB
Delivery Plan, the Winter Plan and implementation of the Operational Pressure Escalation
Level Framework (OPEL) that sets out the steps that the west Essex health economy takes
to ensure operational resilience is maintained throughout the year.
In December 2016 the west Essex system moved over to the OPEL which was a national
escalation framework developed by NHS England. The framework laid out new levels of
escalation replacing the original ‘Green to Black’ alert statuses commonly utilised across
acute hospitals. The OPEL framework included national trigger points for each escalation
status to be utilised across both primary and secondary care settings including Local
Authority. The west Essex system revised the West Essex Surge and Escalation Plan to
include the new trigger points for each escalation status and ensure the national standards
were embedded across the system.
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A total of £1.8 million of resilience funding was allocated to the west Essex system via
central government to support the system over the winter period of 2016-2017. East and
North Hertfordshire CCG contributed a further £421,065 to fund winter resilience schemes in
the west Essex system. The funding this year was used to relieve pressure during the winter
period through the provision of extra bedded community capacity and development of
schemes such as Integrated Rapid Response Service and GP led integrated front door at
the Acute Trust to support redirection of patients to more appropriate services for their
needs.
Over the past year the impact of our schemes from this year and previous years, continues
to be evident through a reduction in admissions to the emergency department at Princess
Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust. This year’s schemes have focused on facilitating greater
integrated working between health and care in keeping with the ambition towards becoming
an Accountable Care Partnership.

Planning for Emergencies
The CCG has joint (integrated) arrangements for major incident (including establishing an
Incident Coordination Centre) with the NHS England Regional Team through the Essex
Regional Team Major Incident Response Plan. In addition the CCG has an Emergency
Preparedness, Resilience and Response Scope and Policy.
Suitable plans aligned to ISO22301 are established to enable the CCG to respond to an
internal incident / disruption with a Business Continuity Scope and Policy, Incident
Management Plan (Business Continuity Plan) and Locality Service Level Plans.
As such the CCG is compliant with the NHS England Emergency Preparedness Framework
2013 and Core Standards.
We certify that the CCG has incident response plans in place, which are fully compliant with
the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness Framework 2013. The CCG
regularly reviews and makes improvements to its major incident plan and has a programme
for regularly testing this plan, the results of which are reported to the Governing Body.

OUR VALUES AND BEHAVIOURS
The Board formally adopted a new set of Behaviours in 2015, which continue to be promoted
and referenced within the CCG. This work forms part of a continued programme, which has
included training provided by The Garnett Foundation during Staff Development Sessions
held in October 2016, and will continue to form part of our culture:
Our organisational values
1. Patient centred at our core - be committed to ensuring that patients are at the
forefront of every decision
2. Collaborative - work in partnership with patients, carers, members of the public
practices, partners and providers
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3. Innovative - be courageous and ambitious in how we commission services: taking risks
and challenging “the norm” and striving for continuous improvement through learning
and reflection
4. Dedicated to quality - commission evidence-based and outcome-focussed services
which are safe, clinically effective and tailored to local people
5. Clinically led and locally focussed - putting clinical thinking at the root of what we do
and responding to the different needs of our communities
6. Honesty and respect - work openly and professionally with local people and
collaborators, to build mutual trust and understanding and to be accountable for the
decisions we make
7. Empowering individuals - value every employee, support individual development to
achieve full potential, encourage contributions and challenges and recognise
individuals efforts

Our Behaviours

We are
1. Caring and selfless toward the patients, local people and our colleagues. We are
caring of ourselves and our careers. We are caring and show value for the opinion of
others.
2. Committed, professional, responsible and flexible. We are committed by being
prepared. We are committed to the patients, local people and our colleagues. We are
committed to ourselves and our departments. We are committed to quality.
3. Competent in what we do, in how we manage others and in how we manage our
own time and workload. We are competent in taking accountability and responsibility. We
are competent in working to our own initiative, working with others and in our leadership.
4. Courageous and innovative. We are courageous in challenging others. We are
courageous in our leadership and in retaining our integrity. We are courageous in asking
questions and questioning why. We are courageous in holding each other to account and
in effecting change.
5. Compassionate in what we do and toward others. We are compassionate by being
respectful toward others’ time and workload and by being appreciative of the work of
others.
6. Communicative with colleagues, our teams, our local people and patients. We are
communicative with external stakeholders. We remain open, honest and transparent. We
are communicative in working collaboratively.

PROGRESS AGAINST AGREED TARGETS
The CCG has in general performed well in 2016-2017 against its key outcomes and
obligations under the NHS Constitution, for services directly commissioned from its
main Providers, although performance has fallen below national expectations in some
instances. Contractual standards are set in line with national guidelines which can be
found at:
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/
The sections below outline the key performance areas and highlights during the year to
date for the CCG’s main service providers. Performance of other providers (and
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against the full range of commissioned standards) is monitored via reports received at
Quality Committee and Finance and Performance Committee.
Acute Trust Metrics
Performance

Performance

Performance

Addenbrookes

Barts
Healthcare

Period

83.4%

86.1%

2016/17

Descriptor

Standard

A&E

Percentage
of A&E
attendances
where the
patient
spends four
hours or
less in A&E
from arrival
to transfer,
admission
or discharge

95%

Princess
Alexandra
Hospital
(PAH)
72.2%

Referral to
Treatment
(RTT)

Percentage
of patients
on an
elective
waiting list
who have
waited less
than 18
weeks from
referral

92%

91.8%

90.5%

Not reporting
data

2016/17

Diagnostics

Percentage
of patients
whose
diagnostic
test is
undertaken
less than 6
weeks from
request

99%

99.4%

96.4%

99.2%

2016/17

Percentage
of patients
who receive
a first
appointment
within 2
weeks of
referral,

93%
93%
96%
85%

97.3%
94.5%
98.2%
88.7%

93.4%
95.9%
97.2%
81.3%

97.9%
99.2%
97.4%
85.6%

2016/17

Item

Cancer
2 Week Wait
2 Week Wait
(Breast)
31 Day
Standard
62 Day
Standard

30

commence
treatment
within 31
days of
diagnosis,
and
commence
treatment
within 62
days of
referral
MRSA

Number of
preventable
MRSA
infections
recorded

Zero tolerance

Zero

2

9

2016/17

C Diff

Number of
C Diff
infections
recorded

Annual
Ceilings:

7

16

71

2016/17

8

8

205

2016/17

Mixed Sex
Number of
Accommodation patients
NOT placed
on a single
sex ward

PAH – 10
Addenbrookes
– 49
Barts – 82
Zero tolerance

Other Key Metrics
Item

Descriptor

Provider

Dementia

Percentage of
estimated population
prevalence with
dementia who are
recorded on Primary
Care Dementia
Registers

GP Practices

Improving Access
to Psychological
Therapies (IAPT)
– Access

Percentage of
estimated population
prevalence with
depression / anxiety
disorders who access
the IAPT service

Hertfordshire
Partnership
FT (HPFT)

Improving Access
to Psychological
Therapies (IAPT)

Percentage of people
completing their IAPT
course who have met

Hertfordshire
Partnership
FT (HPFT)
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Standard

Performance

Period

66.7%

65.5%

March 17

68.4%

April 17

3.75% per
quarter

3.4%
3.4%
3.9%
4.0%

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4

50%

54.5%

2016/17

– Recovery
Early Intervention
in Psychosis (EIP)

agreed improvement /
recovery measures
Percentage of patients
with a care package in
place within 2 weeks of
a first episode of
psychosis

North Essex
Partnership
FT (NEPT)

50%

54.5%

2016/17

Care Programme
Approach (CPA) 7
Day Follow Up

Percentage of patients
who were followed up
within 7 days of
discharge from
psychiatric in-patient
care

North Essex
Partnership
FT (NEPT)

95%

98.8%

2016/17

Ambulance
Response Times

Percentage of
ambulances that reach
the patient within the
required standards of:

East of
England
Ambulance
Service Trust
(EEAST)

Red 1 –
75%
Red 2 –
75%
Cat A –
95%

68.0%
59.2%
89.8%

2016/17

Red 1 – 8 minutes
Red 2 – 8 minutes
Cat A – 19 minutes

My NHS / CCG Annual Assurance Rating
CCGs are additionally assessed against a range of wider metrics under the headline
categories of:





Better Care
Better Health
Sustainability
Well Led

Assessment against the above metrics are published publically on My NHS and fed into
the CCG’s overall annual assurance rating. The headline assurance rating for West
Essex CCG in 2015-2016 was “Requires Improvement”. This headline rating was driven
by three specific elements which required improvement – all other areas were assessed
as “Good”. The three specific areas are outlined below, along with the progress made in
2016-2017:
Well Led: At the time of the 2015-2016 assessment the CCG did not have a substantive
Chief Officer following the departure of Clare Morris, although an interim was in place.
This is no longer the case and Deborah Fielding has been in post since Autumn 2016.
Finance: Although the CCG achieved its control total in 2015-2016, it was assessed as
requires improvement as it implemented and delivered a financial recovery plan in year.
The CCG has again achieved its control total in 2016-2017, but did not require a
recovery plan.
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Performance: In 2015-2016 the CCG was not achieving the key national constitutional
targets for A&E 4 Hour Standard, 18 Week RTT and Cancer 62 Day Standard.
A&E performance has improved considerably in 2016-2017, and the RTT and Cancer
Standards are now being achieved on a consistent basis.
The 2016-2017 CCG assurance rating will be published on 28 June 2017.

Ensuring Safe and High Quality Services
The NHS Outcomes Framework is key national guidance that sets out the requirements for
the NHS. The framework outlines a number of indicators selected to act as a catalyst for
improving quality throughout the NHS by encouraging a change in culture and behaviour that
ensures that quality is safeguarded, improved and makes clinical sense, locally.
To embed this requirement in all commissioned services, the CGG has worked to promote a
culture where the relentless pursuit of quality is seen as everyone’s business and to ensure
that it is central to everything that the healthcare system in west Essex commissions and
delivers.
In order to achieve this, it requires strong and measurable mechanisms for reporting quality
issues, such as patient safety incidents, early warning indicators including patient feedback,
staff surveys and clinical outcome data, reducing healthcare associated infections and
delivering safe care in all settings. The CCG is doing this in a number of ways as detailed
below:
Systems, Standards and Processes
The CCG operates a rigorous quality assurance framework. This supports performance
management across all performance standards and is overseen by the provider focused
Service Performance, Quality Review Groups (SPQRG), and the CCG Quality Committee:


Safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness measures



Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUINS)



Quality Oversight Group (internal)



NHS Constitution and national standards



Finance



Outcomes and Supplementary Indicators including local priorities:o

Quality Premium

o

Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL)

o

Friends and Family Test

There were monthly SPQRG and Quality meetings during 2016-2017 with each directly
commissioned provider.
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The Quality Committee is chaired by the Board’s Lay Member – Quality with membership
including the Director of Nursing and Quality, Secondary Care Consultant and two GP Board
members. This committee oversees the CCG’s responsibilities to ensure that we are
delivering safe, effective and high quality services and to ensure that learning from
complaints, serious incidents, and national inquiries; recommendations from the Jay report
were implemented in 2016-2017.
A key thread of our quality monitoring is leading with compassion and we have taken a peer
review approach to enable robust clinical quality challenge, review and support to our
provider organisations to gain assurance of the quality of the services and identify areas for
improvement through Quality Peer Review Group meetings.
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)
The key aim of CQUIN is to support improvements in the quality of services and the creation
of new, improved patterns of care. CQUIN monies are used to incentivise providers to
deliver quality and innovation improvements over and above the baseline requirements set
out in the NHS Standard Contract.
For 2016-2017, the Nursing and Quality Team agreed a range of CQUINs with the Princess
Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust, South Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust,
The Holly Private Hospital, St Clare Hospice and Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust.
CQUIN schemes were monitored throughout the year and helped deliver improvements in
patient experience, patient safety and quality in a variety of ways. The CQUIN schemes
included national schemes, focusing on sepsis, NHS Staff Health and Wellbeing and
antimicrobial resistance for example.
Local schemes were developed on a system wide basis where possible. Local CQUINS
were innovative and strived for increased quality in various areas. A CQUIN was introduced
with input from acute and community partners to begin and provide support to Care Home
Multi-disciplinary Team’s. Integrated Workforce Development continued for a second year
across acute, community and hospice providers which broadened its scope and introduced
joint training across the entire west Essex system which has had very positive feedback from
providers.
Other schemes focused on continuing to embed motivational interviewing across community
services, improving the Autistic Spectrum Disorder pathway for children and implementing
the ’15 steps’ scheme to improve patient experience. A CQUIN was also developed to
embed the ‘Ask 3 Questions’ campaign, which focuses on empowering patients to ask
pertinent questions of their clinicians.
The 2016-2017 CQUINs have helped to enhance patient care and improve patient
experience across the west Essex health economy. The benefits have been evidenced
throughout the year and appropriate elements from the CQUINs will be carried through in to
the contracts for 2017-2018, to ensure that the positive and innovative changes are further
embedded across providers.
By way of a summary:
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For 2016 to 2017 the total CQUIN available to all providers (i.e. lead/associate
commissioner) payable by the CCG if milestones achieved: £6,367,204
Total predicted CQUIN payable by the CCG based on current performance: £5,992,311
The total CQUIN available to each provider where we are lead commissioner is below:

Provider

CQUIN value

Paid to date

£

£

Over what
period

Not
achieved
£

What is
outstanding
for 16/17?

SEPT

767,794

427,661

Q1-Q3

6,142

Q4 not yet
agreed

PAH

2,519,767

1,669,955

Q1-Q3

129,552

Q4 not yet
agreed

HCT

100,460

100,460

Q1-Q4

0

N/A

St Clare

44,934

33,699

Q1-Q3

0

Q4 not yet
agreed

The Holly

66,019

47,862

Q1-Q3

1,650

Q4 not yet
agreed

Total

3,498,974

2,279,637

137,344

Healthcare Acquired Infections (HCAIs)
The Infection Prevention and Control (IP&C) Team have provided specialist support to the
CCG and to provider specialist teams underpinned by the national framework for Infection
Prevention and Control (IPC) commissioning (Infection Prevention Society with Royal
College of Nursing).
The team have:

Led and co-ordinated whole system investigations of all cases of these two infections
involving west Essex patients. Learning from these investigations is used to devise
the North Essex HCAI Annual Plan. Delivery of the plan is monitored through the
North Essex Infection Prevention and Control Committee which is a subcommittee of
the CCG Quality Committee.



Ongoing management of Antimicrobial Stewardship through a revised approach to
the committee to promote and increase attendance.
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Ensured organisational accountability.



Monitoring and follow up of all Serious Incidents related to HCAI, and responded with
expert knowledge to situations as they occur (such as outbreaks and incidents).



Oversight and monitoring of provider premises through proactive and reactive IP&C
visits to assure their suitability for the range of clinical activities they are
commissioned to deliver.



Performance against the targets:

The national objective for Clostridium difficile for 2016-2017 was set against the baseline
from October 2013 to September 2014 as follows:
Clostridium difficile as at end March 2017

Cases 20152016 Total

2016-2017
Ceiling

Cases 2016-2017
to end January

West Essex CCG

54

49

46**

Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS
Trust (PAH)

20 (with 13
successful
appeals)

10

13**

** Out of the 13 Post cases at PAH, 4 were successfully appealed at the North Essex
Scrutiny Panel, 9 were deemed to have breaches in key policy.
The previously implemented trajectory appeals process has been continued in line with
national guidance. Thus all whole economy investigations are reviewed by the North Essex
HealthCare Associated Infection (HCAI) Scrutiny Panel with recommendation to take cases
off the Acute Trust trajectory (for purposes of contract sanctions) if one or more of the
following apply:


The case was deemed colonisation and not infection OR



There is clear evidence of infection prior to the admission to hospital AND



No breaches in key policy have been identified

Panel recommendations are then reported to the West Essex Serious Incident Assurance
Panel (SIAP) for final scrutiny and approval sought.
National targets for MRSA bacteraemia ceased in 2013-2014 and were replaced with Zero
Tolerance as the aim. In some quarters this is interpreted as zero cases. The CCG and
North Essex Specialist view is that zero tolerance means all possible efforts will be made
across the system to prevent these infections. Where infections do occur, thorough root
cause analysis techniques are undertaken to identify any possible learnings, as well as

36

assessing compliance with current policy. The national Post Infection Review process is
followed with the addition of taking the opportunity to identify all possible learning, whether of
relevance to the case under consideration or not.
MRSA as at end January 2017
Cases

Cases

15-16

16-17 Total

West Essex CCG

4

2

Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS
Trust

0

0 (1*)

*The first PAH attributed case was investigated and assigned as 3rd party.
Of the three cases involving west Essex patients two were deemed third party assignment
as no breaches of key policy were identified in the local health economy. Such decisions are
scrutinised by NHS England Regional HCAI lead. One case has breaches in key policy and
system learning for the safe and effective management of diabetic foot ulcers.
A more detailed analysis of cases and learning will be prepared following year end and
reported in the annual IPC Report.
Serious Incident reporting April 2016 – March 2017
Serious Incidents (SIs) in health care are adverse events, where the consequences to
patients, families and carers, staff or organisations are so significant or the potential for
learning is so great, that a heightened level of response is justified. Providers are
responsible for the safety of their patients, visitors and others using their services, and
must ensure robust systems are in place for recognising, reporting, investigating and
responding to Serious Incidents and for arranging and resourcing investigations.
Commissioners are accountable for quality assuring the robustness of their providers’
Serious Incident investigations ensuring that action plans are robust and demonstrable, and
to review whether the actions have been effective in reducing the recurrence of similar
incidents.
The effect of the revised NHS England 2015 framework has continued to have an effect on
the number of SIs reported. All providers have a process in place for identifying what level of
investigation is required for an incident that may be serious. If there is any lack of clarity
about an incident, providers and commissioners will discuss and agree a way forward.
The number of reported SIs has continued to fall, year on year, due to the correct
identification of these incidents in line with the national framework. In the past there was a
requirement to report certain types of incident as SIs regardless of whether harm was or
could have been caused. This year all providers have stopped doing this, the last type of
incident to stop being reported in this way is pressure ulcers. If, following an investigation, a
pressure ulcer can be classified as an SIs then it will be reported accordingly.
Quality assurance of SI has been reviewed and changed significantly in year. The process
that was in place involved review of a summary of the SIs by members of the quality and
nursing teams from West, Mid and North East Essex CCGs. This process had been in place
since the inception of CCGs in 2013.
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The CCG has revised this process and is now managing it within the CCG. A panel has
been set up, the SI Assurance Panel which meets weekly. This is a sub group of the Quality
Committee. The panel membership comprises both clinical and non clinical staff and specific
specialists depending on the nature of the SIs to be discussed for example, the lead GP for
children’s safeguarding or the lead GP for mental health. The panel is in the process of
reviewing how to include a GP every week.
The terms of reference for the SI Assurance Panel have been approved by the Quality
Committee.

Total Numbers of SIs reported to WECCG
Annual SI Reporting WECCG
Total SIs reported

2013-14
399

2014-15
288*

2015-16
179**

2016-17
52***

*2014-215 Final figure end of year. 288 SI’s (total 387 reported 99 de-escalated following
review).
**2015-16 end of year 31.03.2016. 179 SI’s (total 288 reported 109 de-escalated following
review).
***2016-17 data on 06.02.2017. 52 SI’s (total 99 reported 47 de-escalated following review)

The most common factors that contribute to serious incidents that have been investigated to
date across west Essex in the past year are, human factors in relation to team dynamics,
culture within both local teams and organisations and errors related to work load. The top
three reporting organisations are shown in the table below, with the number of actual SIs
year to date.
Total SIs by organisation 2016-2017
Number
28

Organisation
The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust
North Essex Partnership Foundation Trust

14

East of England Ambulance Service NHS
Trust

4

Providers are required through the contract to provide regular quality and patient safety
reports including monthly data and narrative reports of SIs identified and annual reporting of
learning and changes to practice as a consequence of SIs.
Across all providers the investigations have identified the continued importance of:





Appropriate and timely support and education for staff.
Robust procedures that can be followed easily.
Adequate staffing levels.
Regular review of policies/procedures to ensure they are up to date and fully
implemented.
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Regular audit of procedures to ensure they are being followed.
Appreciation of the human factors involved in all complex systems.
Sharing of the outcomes of investigations to ensure widespread learning.

Within the CCG summary information on all reported SIs is reviewed by the Quality
Committee and the Board. This information is analysed in the context of other intelligence
about providers and the health economy within which they are working. Serious incident
reporting and investigation that leads to sustainable changes to practice to improve safety is
a positive sign of a safety aware service whose staff are supported to report any aspect of
care that could or has caused harm to a patient.
Never Events
Never events are a sub-set of Serious Incidents and are defined as ‘serious, largely
preventable patient safety incidents that should not occur if the available preventative
measures have been implemented by healthcare providers’
In 2016-2017 one never event was reported, it involved the surgical placement of the wrong
implant or prosthesis in the patient. The patient did not suffer any harm as a result of this
error. The incident was fully investigated and changes were made to practice both
immediately and following the detailed analysis of events. The CCG reviewed the
investigation report , and all evidence that demonstrated actions had been implemented. A
further visit was undertaken to observe the changes to practice.
In conclusion, the CCG observed that all staff were aware of the incident, and the learning
gained. The report and the learning has also been shared with other providers to mitigate
against similar incidents happening elsewhere.
Safeguarding
The Safeguarding Vulnerable People in the Reformed NHS - Accountability and Assurance
Framework (2015) sets out how NHS organisations should fulfil their responsibilities. The
CCG is statutorily responsible for ensuring that the organisations from which they
commission services provide a safe system that safeguards children and adults at risk of
abuse or neglect, and include the specific responsibilities for Looked after Children as well
as supporting the Child Death Review process.
The CCG has worked in partnership with the Local Safeguarding Children and Adult Boards
and partner agencies to ensure robust safeguarding arrangements are in place within
organisations and commissioned services provided by external health organisations.
The CCG completed a Section 11 Safeguarding Children Audit in 2014-2015 for the Essex
Safeguarding Children Board, with a further update submitted in September 2016. The
associated action plan is regularly reviewed to evidence work undertaken and to ensure
continuous improvements in safeguarding practice are being developed. The bi-annual
safeguarding Adult Audit was submitted to Essex County Council meeting the deadline of
January 2017.
Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 outlines the requirements for a clear line of
accountability with NHS organisations. Leadership and responsibility for safeguarding at
governing body level is achieved through the Director of Nursing and Quality, this role is
supported by safeguarding leads for children and adult services.
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The CCG through contractual arrangements and collective working with partner agencies is
developing services responsive to need and providing the right intervention at the right time.
The aim is to collectively support early intervention to families and children.
The CCG has refreshed its partnership with agencies across the health and social care
system particularly recognising its responsibilities to protect adults who are at risk set out in
the Care Act 2014 (that came into force on the 1 of April 2015).
West Essex has been responsive to embedding learning from enquiries relating to both adult
and children safeguarding into the commissioning process and continues to work with the
adult and child protection agenda of the safeguarding boards on areas such as Child Sexual
Exploitation, Female Genital Mutilation, Domestic Abuse and Prevent (Prevent is one part of
the UK’s Contest Counter Terrorism Strategy).
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COMPLAINTS AND COMPLIMENTS
The CCG manages complaints, concerns and compliments from any person or their family
who uses services that the CCG commissions. People are free to make their comments to
either the organisation where they received their care or via the CCG. In the last year the
CCG has received 80 complaints (data collated 06.02.17). The top five organisations the
complaints concerned are in the table below.
Organisation

Number

West Essex CCG

19

NHS111 (IC24)

12

The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust

14

Arden & Gem Commissioning Support Unit

9

North Essex Partnership Foundation Trust

9

The complaints about the CCG related to either the Continuing Healthcare (CHC) process,
particularly delays or decisions made that were associated with funding for service restricted
procedures / treatments.
In response to these complaints the CCG has made the following changes:


revised the entire process for management of service restriction policies including
involving the patient as early as possible in the process.



the CHC team have an operational policy in place and have developed their
relationship with both the district nurses and the acute nurses to speed up the
assessment process for CHC consideration.

Learning from complaints and other patient feedback has been shared with the wider CCG
on a regular basis by the Patient Experience Team.
Aside from complaints the team have also had over 281 queries (correct on 06.02.17) from
patients and their families ranging from issues about appointments, concerns about possible
delays in treatment to needing information on health services in the area.
The CCG also received 9 formal compliments, 8 of these were about the help, care and
support patients and their families had received from the CHC team. All compliments are
shared with the relevant staff.
Equality Objectives for 2015-2019
To ensure that we are meeting our duties there will be development of a number of key
areas within our new objectives. These objectives have resulted from the undertaking of the
Equality Delivery System 22 assessment and an external review by the CCG’s Sounding
Board (the public and patient engagement group) for Goals 1 and 2 together with the
2

A refreshed equality delivery system for the NHS EDS2
https://www.england.nhs.uk/?s=equality+and+diversity+2
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Equality and Diversity Group assessing on Goal 3 and the Board on Goal 4. The equality
objectives are provided in headline terms below with the measures of success and timeline
in Appendix B.
Goal 1 Better health outcomes for all:
 Increase the diversity of local people involved in the CCG’s commissioning.
 Ensure commissioners have up to date data and access to information to
inform commissioning decisions.
Goal 2 Improved patient access and experience:
 Enable and support compliance by providers in implementing the Accessible
Information Standard.
 Review and improve our own accessible information and communication
support.
 Work with partners, improve ease of access and connectivity for the public to
the Patient Advisory Liaison Service (PALS) across west Essex health
organisations.
Goal 3 Empowered, engaged and included staff:
 Improve our staff’s ability to commission services for diverse communities by
providing further equalities training.
 Explore equality of access, consistency of request consideration and
outcomes for special leave, study leave and flexible working and act on the
findings.
Goal 4 Inclusive leadership at all levels:
 Further embed an effective process for equality impact assessments and
achieve full mainstreaming into business planning processes.
 Sign up for the Learning Disability Employment Pledge and deliver actions to
achieve.
 Achieve the Workforce Race Equality Standard within the CCG.
Ensure providers comply with the Workforce Race Equality Standard

WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP FOR BETTER HEALTH AND REDUCING HEALTH
INEQUALITY
The CCG has continued to ensure that all commissioning policy decisions are made with the
benefit of robust equality impact assessments and have instigated new processes within
committee structures to provide enhanced scrutiny of these assessments. We have used the
RightCare process to examine inequity of access to services and health outcomes for West
Essex in comparison to statistical neighbours and the national picture and are also working
within the neighbourhood structure to collate data on local inequities between and within
neighbourhoods with partners in the Essex County Council Public Health Team.
A key outcome of the Health and Social Care Act (2012) was to establish a statutory Health
and Wellbeing Board in every local authority area. These Boards offer the opportunity for
system-wide leadership to improve both health and care services. In particular, they have a
duty to promote integrated working and drive improvements in health and wellbeing.
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By 2018 residents and local communities in Essex will have greater choice, control, and
responsibility for health and wellbeing services. Life expectancy overall will have increased
and the inequalities within and between our communities will have reduced. Every child and
adult will be given more opportunities to enjoy better health and wellbeing.
Priorities:
(a) Starting and developing well: ensuring every child in Essex has the best start in life.
(b) Living and working well: ensuring that residents make better lifestyle choices and
residents have the opportunities needed to enjoy a healthy life.
(c) Ageing well: ensuring that older people remain as independent for as long as
possible.
Health and Wellbeing Boards (established on 1 April 2013) are responsible for:



Leading on the production and regular updates of the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA) as an assessment of local health and wellbeing needs across
healthcare, social care and public health.
Producing and annually reviewing a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in response
to the JSNA, which will provide a strategic framework for local commissioning plans.

The Essex Health and Wellbeing Board brings together locally elected councillors and key
commissioners, including representatives of CCGs, Directors of Public Health, Children’s
Services and Adult Social Services and a representative of Healthwatch Essex.
Health and Wellbeing Strategy
The Health and Wellbeing Board has produced a five year strategy that sets out how
partners will work together on improvements up to 2018. The development of this strategy is
informed by the JSNA the national District Health Profiles, a number of needs assessments
and a programme of ‘deep dive’ analyses of key issues for Essex. This work has been
overseen by a Performance Sub-Group of the Board.
Formed in May 2013, the Board is chaired by the ECC Cabinet Member for Health,
Councillor Graham Butland. The nominated Vice Chair is Dr Gary Sweeney, Chair of North
East Essex CCG.
There are 23 voting members including clinical representation from CCGs and a member
from the NHS England Area Team. Dr Kamal Bishai, deputy Chair of WECCG,has been a
member of the Health and Wellbeing Board since its beginning. There are two non-voting
members: the Police and Crime Commissioner and the independent chair of the Essex
safeguarding boards.
Throughout 2016, the Board oversaw a further update of the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment with updated locality profiles and a review of the Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy. It also oversees the implementation of CCGs’ Five Year Plans as well as the
development of Better Care plans promoting integrated commissioning between health and
social care.
The Board is currently reviewing its role, with a particular focus on how its work programme
can be integrated with those of other Essex partnerships; recognising and enhancing the
role of District-level health and wellbeing boards; and on its role in developing and
monitoring NHS Sustainability and Transformation Plans.
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Residents can attend Essex Health and Wellbeing meetings. Minutes of previous meetings
are also available. See http://tinyurl.com/kn67vnu for further details or email
health.andwellbeing@essex.gov.uk.
As part of an ongoing review, the CCG will continue to review its strategy against strategic
timelines.
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA):
There was an update to the Essex JSNA in 2016 with some in-depth analysis on topics
pertinent to the inequalities agenda such as, premature mortality, mental health. Under the
JSNA banner in 2016 were two new specialist topics needs assessments (mental health and
sensory impairment) and the annual district reports which identify variation in needs across
the CCG. All of these can be found on http://www.essexinsight.org.uk/
In addition, the CCG is one of the Wave One RightCare pilots. The RightCare
Commissioning for Value packs have informed the CCG’s focus for 2016-2017 on
respiratory, cardiovascular disease and musculoskeletal redesign programmes; in-depth
review of Long Term Conditions and Mental Health packs are also underway.
Sustainability and Caring For Our Environment
The Sustainable Development Strategy for the Health, Public Health and Social Care
System 2014-2020 (gateway No 01011) was launched in January 2014. It describes the
vision for a sustainable health and care system by reducing carbon emissions, protecting
natural resources, preparing communities for extreme weather events and promoting healthy
lifestyles and environments.
The NHS emits the most carbon in the whole of the UK public sector and our carbon
footprint is 22.8 million tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalents (MtCO2e). Between 2007 and
2015 the carbon footprint has reduced by 11%, with an ambition to achieve a 28% reduction
by 2020 on a 2013 baseline.
The NHS carbon footprint is measured through our consumption including emissions from
building energy use, travel to and from sites and goods and services purchased. This
approach covers the global standards identified within The Greenhouse Gas (GHG)
Protocol, developed by World Resources Institute (WRI) and World Business Council on
Sustainable Development (WBCSD), this sets the global standard for how to measure,
manage and report greenhouse gas emissions. These standards, together with
accompanying tools, are used by hundreds of companies and organisations around the
world to manage their emissions and become more efficient, resilient and prosperous.
The CCG continues to take this agenda seriously with commitment to fulfilling our corporate
social responsibility, we achieve this through progress with our Board approved Sustainable
Development Management Plan objectives. The report at Appendix A provides further
details on what we have achieved over the last year in meeting these objectives and how we
intend to move forward.
Ownership of the buildings we occupy belongs to NHS Property Services who are
responsible for the operational energy ratings applicable to these. Where energy operating
data has been made available from NHS Property Services this has been included in our
attached Sustainability Report, The occupancy breakdown is as follows:
CCG Headquarters – buildings 1 – 4 Spencer Close, Epping.
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Accountability Report
2

Corporate Governance Report

2.1

Members Report

The CCG Board members 2016-2017 were:Name
Dr Rob Gerlis
Dr Kamal Bishai

Andrew Geldard
Deborah Fielding
Dean Westcott

Dr Angus Henderson
Dr Jen West
Dr Sanjeev Rana
Dr Amik Aneja
Dr Christine Moss
Toni Coles
Jane Kinniburgh
Duncan Forsyth
Stephen King
Jackie Sully
Pauline Quinn
Peter Boylan

Designation as at 1 April
2016
Chair and Harlow locality
representative
Vice-chair and Epping Forest
Locality representative
Interim Chief Officer
(Accountable Officer)
Director of Finance,
Contracting and
Performance/Deputy Chief
Officer
GP Board Member for
Uttlesford
GP Board Member for
Uttlesford
GP Board Member for
Epping Forest
GP Board Member for
Harlow
Clinical Director
Director of Transformation
Director of Nursing and
Quality
Secondary Care Consultant
Deputy Chair and Lay
member – Governance
Lay member – Patient and
Public Engagement (PPE)
Lay member – Quality
-

Vacancy

Integrated Commissioning
Director (West) – Essex
County Council

Vacancy

From November 2015
Integrated Commissioning
Director
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Year End position
Chair and Harlow locality
representative
Clinical Vice Chair and
Epping Forest Locality
representative
Chief Officer (Accountable
Officer) – Up to July 2015
Chief Officer (Accountable
Officer) – As of August 2016
Director of Finance,
Contracting and
Performance/Deputy Chief
Officer
GP Board Member for
Uttlesford
GP Board Member for
Uttlesford
GP Board Member for
Epping Forest
GP Board Member for
Harlow
Chief Medical Officer
Director of Transformation
Director of Nursing and
Quality
Secondary Care Consultant
Deputy Chair and Lay
member – Governance
Lay member – Patient and
Public Engagement (PPE)
Lay member – Quality up to
May 2016
Lay member – Quality – As
of July 2016

Peter Wightman

Director of Primary Care and
Localities

Director of Primary Care and
Localities

Maggie Pacini (non-voting)
Councillor Terry Cutmore
(non-voting)

Consultant, Public Health
Essex County Council
Representative

Consultant, Public Health
Essex County Council
Representative

Councillor Gagan Mohindra
(non-voting) attendee

-

West Essex District Council
Representative for Epping,
Harlow and Uttlesford District
Councils-as of January 2017

Membership of the Clinical Commissioning Group
All 35 GP practices in west Essex are the members of NHS West Essex Clinical
Commissioning Group.
Practice Name
Abridge Surgery
Chigwell Medical Centre
The Forest Practice
High Street Surgery
Keyhealth Medical Centre
Kings Medical Centre
The Limes Medical Centre
Loughton Health Centre
Market Square Surgery
Maynard Court Surgery
Nazeing Valley Health Centre
Ongar Health Centre
The River Surgery
Palmerston Road Surgery
The Loughton Surgery
Addison House Surgery
Barbara Castle Health Centre
Church Langley Medical
Centre
Hamilton Practice
Lister Medical Centre
Nuffield House Surgery
Old Harlow Health Centre
Osler House Medical Centre
The Ross Practice
Sydenham House Health
Centre
Angel Lane Surgery
The Crocus Surgery
Elsenham Surgery
Eden Surgery
John Tasker House Surgery
Newport Surgery
Stansted Surgery

Locality
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Epping
Harlow
Harlow
Harlow
Harlow
Harlow
Harlow
Harlow
Harlow
Harlow
Harlow
Uttlesford
Uttlesford
Uttlesford
Uttlesford
Uttlesford
Uttlesford
Uttlesford
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Steeple Bumpstead Surgery
Thaxted Surgery
The Gold St Surgery

Uttlesford
Uttlesford
Uttlesford

Duties of a Clinical Commissioning Group
CCGs are established under the Health and Social Care Act 2012. They are statutory bodies
which have the function of commissioning services for the purposes of the health service in
England and are treated as NHS bodies for the purposes of the National Health Service Act
2006.
The duties of CCGs to commission certain health services are set out in section 3 of the
2006 Act, as amended by section 13 of the 2012 Act and the regulations made under that
provision.
CCGs are clinically led membership organisations made up of general practices. The
members of the clinical commissioning group are responsible for determining the governing
arrangements for their organisations, which they are required to set out in a constitution.
As a statutory body, the CCG has specified powers to contract in its own name.
The CCG’s governing body is accountable to the NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning
Group. It has responsibility for the following functions:
a) ensuring that the group has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise
its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance
with the group’s principles of good governance;
b) determining the terms and conditions, including remuneration, fees and
other allowances payable to employees or other persons providing
services to the group and the allowances payable under any pension
scheme it may establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the
2006 Act, inserted by Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act;
c) approving any functions of the group that are specified in regulations; and
d) any additional functions which the CCG is conferring on the Governing
Body which are connected with its main functions and any of the group’s
functions which have been delegated by the Group’s membership to the
governing body are captured in the Scheme of Delegation.
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Declarations of Interest and profiles for CCG Board Member
Each Director cited below knows of no information which would be relevant to the auditors
for the purposes of West Essex CCGs audit report, and of which the auditors are not aware,
and has taken all the steps he or she ought to have taken to make himself/herself aware of
any such information and to establish that the auditors are aware of it.
Deborah Fielding joined West Essex CCG as Chief Officer in August
2016.
She has a wealth of experience in the health and social care sector
specialising in service transformation.
Deborah is a proud Essex girl and began her career here as a
community nurse and health visitor. Most recently, before coming to
West Essex CCG, she was the Accountable Officer at Wiltshire CCG and
had been there since its inception in 2012.
Before that she was a deputy CEO at NHS Havering and Director of Strategy and
Partnerships at NHS South East Essex Primary Care Trust.
Name
Deborah
Fielding

Type of
Member
Chief Officer

Details of Declarations

From

Nil

15 August
2016

th

To
Present

Dean Westcott has held a number of senior finance positions in the
NHS, has worked within the Acute, Primary Care and Health Authority
sectors and is currently Director of Finance, Contracting and
Performance,
West
Essex
CCG.
A former Finance Director at both Harlow and West Essex Primary Care
Trusts, Dean was also Finance Director at Hinchingbrooke Health Care
NHS Trust where he led the Trusts finance input from the management
franchise transfer to the private sector provider, Circle Health.
Dean is a past President of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) and is currently a Trustee of the Associations pension scheme. He has
also served as a past Chairman of ACCA’s Audit and Finance Committees as well as Health
Service Network and the International Public Sector Committee.
Name
Dean
Westcott

Type of
Member
Director of
Finance,
Contracting
and
Performance

Details of Declarations

From

Trustee of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants Staff Pension Scheme

28
October
2016
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th

To
Present

Dr Christine Moss has been a GP in Buckhurst Hill for 25 years and
has worked in local service development for over 15 years.
Specific roles at West Essex CCG include Caldicott Guardian and
clinical advisor to Contracts including Princess Alexandra Hospital
NHS Trust and SEPT.
She has specific interests in Cancer Services, Population Health
management, driving forward improving Health and Care outcomes to
all residents in west Essex by improving integration and reducing
variation.

Name
Dr
Christine
Moss

Type of
Member
Chief Medical
Officer

Details of Declarations

From

GP principal and part owner - River Surgery,
Buckhurst Hill
MacMillan – previous GP Facilitator in Palliative Care
and currently Cancer Lead
Member - Urology Tumour Board for London Cancer

3
November
2016

rd

To
Present
Present
Present

Toni Coles is responsible for the delivery of the CCG’s transformation
programmes, including urgent care and programmes for older people.
She is also responsible for ensuring the integration of services.
Toni has spent her career working in the NHS. Starting out as a trainee
accountant within an acute hospital, she has held various roles within
secondary care finance and project management.
Moving into commissioning in 2003, Toni was responsible for
introducing the new GP contract for Uttlesford Primary Care Trust .
She continued to remain involved in primary care commissioning and
her first Executive appointment was as Director of Primary Care for
West Essex Primary Care Trust.
Name
Toni Coles

Type of
Member
Director of
Transformation

Details of Declarations

From

Nil

1 June
2016

st

Jane Kinniburgh’s experience includes over 20 years working as a
clinician in the community, as a District Nurse in south east London,
Harlow and Uttlesford.
Over the last ten years her roles have included Director of Nursing for
Uttlesford Primary Care Trust and Assistant Director for Clinical
Service Redesign at Mid Essex Primary Care Trust - where she led
the re-design of integrated community services, and palliative care
service improvement.
Jane joined West Essex CCG in March 2014 as Director of Nursing
and Quality, and is committed to working across the health economy
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To
Present

with local communities and partners to embed high quality services and the best possible
outcomes for west Essex residents.
Name
Jane
Kinniburgh

Type of
Member
Director of
Nursing and
Quality

Details of Declarations

From

Nil

12
January
2017

th

To
Present

Peter Wightman is responsible for leading primary care development
for the CCG.
Peter also holds the lead for Information Management and
Technology (IM&T) and Premises and Estates development for the
CCG.
Working initially in hospitals, before a move into commissioning, he
has held a variety of in the NHS including acting Chief Executive in
Huntingdonshire Primary Care Trust for a year.
He has led in commissioning for acute, mental health, community,
public health and primary care services.
Name
Peter
Wightman

Type of
Member
Director of
Primary Care
and Localities

Details of Declarations

From

Nil

20 March
2017

th

To
Present

Maggie Pacini is west Essex’s designated Consultant in Public
Health. Public Health moved to Essex County Council (ECC) in April
2013 and Maggie splits her time between county hall and the CCG.
Maggie focuses on the planning of services based upon the health
needs assessment, evidence-based practice and prioritisation. She
will also act as a link back to the rest of the public health team at ECC,
the other CCG Public Health consultants and the team at Public
Health England (PHE) / NHS England Essex Area Team.
Maggie is also the Consultant in Public Health aligned with Mid Essex
CCG since September 2015.
Name
Maggie
Pacini

Type of
Member
Consultant in
Public Health

Details of Declarations

From

Consultant in Public Health at Mid Essex CCG

19 March
2017

Whilst a recorded disclosure has been made, consent
is not given for this information to be published.
Reasons for this non-disclosure are recorded, with
any conflict being raised if relevant.
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th

To
Present

Dr Rob Gerlis has been a GP principal at the Ross Practice in Harlow
for 30 years.
He qualified at The London Hospital Medical College, Whitechapel in
1982 and completed his GP training in Epping in 1986 where he
worked at Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust, St. Margaret’s
Hospital and Herts and Essex Community Hospital.
Dr Gerlis has been involved in Primary Care management since
entering General Practice and was Professional Executive Committee
chair for Harlow Primary Care Group from 2006.
He gained Fellowship of Royal College of General Practitioners in
2013.
Name
Dr Rob
Gerlis

Type of
Member
Chair and
Harlow
Locality GP
Representative

Details of Declarations

From

GP Partner at Ross Practice and shareholder of
Stellar

11 August
2016

th

Wife GP advisor at Ross Practice; GP employee of
Stellar; Clinical Assistant at Princess Alexandra
Hospital
Occasional Chairing of meetings supported by Astra
Zeneca eg. Asthma management for which payment
received.

To
Present

June
2016

Occasional telephone/online research interviews with
GFK interview company eg. New management of H
Pylori for which payment received.

May
2016

Dr Sanjeev Rana qualified from Imperial School of Medicine and
Technology (St. Mary’s Hospital Medical School) in 1995. He
completed his General Practice training in 1998.
Sanjeev moved to Epping in 2000 and started work at The Limes
Medical Centre in June 2001 and where he continues to work. His
main interests within the practice are teaching, minor surgery/
dermatology and respiratory medicine.
Sanjeev has worked within Medicines Management since 2006,
initially with the Primary Care Trust and now within the CCG. Going
forward his work will include commissioning services for long term
conditions affecting working age adults.

Name
Dr
Sanjeev
Rana

Type of
Member
Epping Forest
Locality GP
Representative

Details of Declarations

From

Partner – The Limes Medical Centre
Shareholder – Stellar Healthcare
Tier 3 Dermatology GPSI – Stellar Healthcare
Encyclia Consulting Ltd – no confict of interest with
the CCG
Chairs and attends sponsored educational meetings

16
January
2017

Attends Advisory Boards
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th

To
Present

Advisor to Visions4Health
Advisor to PCRS-UK

Dr Amik Aneja studied for his medical degree at Guy’s King’s and St
Thomas’.
He joined the Harlow Vocational Training scheme in 2004 and worked
at Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust for two years before fully
qualifying as a GP in August 2007.
Following this, he worked as a GP in Barking for two years and
subsequently joined Jenner House in Old Harlow in May 2009.
Amik has been a GP Trainer since January 2011.

Name
Dr Amik
Aneja

Type of
Member
Harlow
Locality GP
Representative

Details of Declarations

From

GP Partner
Stellar Healthcare – Practice holds a share

16 March
2017

th

To
Present

Dr Jen West has been a GP Principal at Newport Surgery in Newport,
Uttlesford since 2001.
She qualified in Dundee, Scotland in 1982 and completed vocational
training for General Practice in Cambridge in 1999.
She has a particular interest in End of Life and Palliative care, and has
held an Uttlesford Locality post in End of Life care 2001- 2016- this
post was initially funded and supported by Macmillan.
She has worked with the Medicines Management team, End of Life
and Care Home teams to improve quality and continuity of care for
this vulnerable group with a focus on the challenge of providing good out of hours care.
Name
Dr Janet
West

Type of
Member
Uttlesford
Locality GP
Representative

Details of Declarations

From

Partner at Newport Surgery

30
October
2016

Uttlesford Health Ltd as GP Partner in affiliated
practice
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th

To
Present

Dr Angus Henderson is a GP at the Stansted Surgery in Uttlesford.
Dr Henderson is the clinical lead for stroke and Right Care. He has
been involved with the primary care and business intelligence teams
in developing the use of data, for example, in referral monitoring for
primary care.
He undertook a period of training in Public Health between 2009-2011
and obtained a post-graduate qualification in Public Health. Angus
also has a Master’s degree in Public Health from the University of
Cambridge.

Name
Dr Angus
Henderson

Type of
Member
Uttlesford
Locality GP
Representative
and Clinical
Commissioner

Details of Declarations

From

Salaried GP – Stanstead Surgery
Sessional GP for PELC
Deputy CMO - West Essex CCG

17
October
2016

th

To
Present
Present
Present

Peter Boylan began his NHS career in 1980 as a student nurse.
Peter Boylan joined the CCG in July 2016 as a lay member of the
Board with lead responsibility for quality. He chairs the CCG quality
committee, responsible for scrutinising the quality of NHS
commissioned services. Peter is also a member of both the
Remuneration and Audit Committees.
As a registered nurse and who has held various positions as a
clinician, manager and regulator and more recently as a Director of
Nursing and Quality in an NHS commissioning organisation, Peter has
a particular interest in quality assurance, quality improvement and adult and children’s
safeguarding.

Name
Peter
Boylan

Type of
Member
(NV) Lay
Member –
Quality

Details of Declarations

From

To

Board notified 29.9.16 - District Councillor - of East
Hertfordshire District Council
Care Quality Commission (CQC) Specialist

September
2016

Present

July 2016
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Jackie Sully has worked in the not for profit sector for the past 25
years, having previously worked in both the public and private sectors.
She is Chief Executive of Rainbow Services; a Harlow based charity.
Jackie has a degree in management, a post graduate degree in
Management Studies, and a master’s degree in Voluntary Sector
Studies.
Jackie was a member of the Harlow Primary Care Trust Board from
2001 until its dissolution in 2006, where she was the non-executive
lead for children and young people, she was subsequently appointed as a non-executive to
the Board of West Essex Primary Care Trust until 2011.
Name
Jackie
Sully

Type of
Member
Lay Member –
Patient and
Public
Engagement

Details of Declarations

From

Chief Executive Officer - Rainbow Services Harlow
(Charity No. 1077228)
Trustee - Essex Community Foundation (ECF)

25
October
2016

th

To
Present

Stephen King was appointed Lay Member for Governance and Audit
Chair at the CCG, and acts as Deputy Chair. He was previously NonExecutive Director and Vice Chair of the NHS North Essex Primary
Care Trust Cluster Board. He was also a member of the NHS East of
England Innovation Council.
Stephen has other non-executive roles at Sightsavers International,
International Association for the Prevention of Blindness (IAPB)
Trading and the Royal National Institute of Blind People (RNIB)
Pension scheme.
He retired in 2013 after a 40 year career in reading and publishing
technology. His work included spells at board level with a number of international publishing
and entertainment companies; finishing with a director role at the RNIB.
Name
Stephen
King

Type of
Member
Lay Member Governance

Details of Declarations

From

Chair and Director, International Association for the
Prevention of Blindness Trading Ltd
Trustee, Sightsavers International
Trustee Royal National Institute of Blind People
Pension Scheme
Wife is a volunteer in Aphasia Speech & Language
Group Herts & Essex Hospital

5 January
2017

th

Duncan Forsyth was appointed as Secondary Care Consultant to the
NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group late Spring 2012.
He joined Addenbrooke’s Hospital as Consultant Geriatrician in 1990
and was Clinical Director of Medicine for the Elderly 1996–2002.
His interests include: Parkinson’s disease; delirium; improving
dementia care in the acute hospital; and end of life care.
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To
Present

In 2010 he set up a specialist delirium ward and was nominated Addenbrooke’s delirium
lead. In 2011, the delirium ward team were finalists in the Nursing Times Awards and won
the Trust Division of Medicine Excellence Award. He currently chairs the steering group for
the national audit of Intermediate Care.
Name
Duncan
Forsyth

Type of
Member
Secondary
Care Adviser

Details of Declarations

From

Provide a Specialist Parkinson’s service at Saffron
Walden Community Hospital to some WECCG
residents

28
October
2016

th

To
Present

Dr Kamal Bishai is a member of the current Clinical
Commissioning Board and is lead for the Epping Forest locality.
Having worked as a local GP for over twenty five years, Dr Bishai has
represented fellow GPs in various roles throughout his career.
In his previous role as appraiser he got to know many of his GP
colleagues personally which enabled him to better understand the
challenges they face.
Dr Bishai has a special interest in Ophthalmology and conducts
Primary Care Ophthalmology clinics at various sites in west Essex.
Name
Dr Kamal
Bishai

Type of
Member
Vice Chair and
Epping Forest
GP Locality
Representative

Details of Declarations

From

Sessional GP within West Essex CCG
Sessional GP with Special Interest contracting with
Stellar Healthcare
Director of Ophthalmic Solutions Limited Company
No.06282864 (Not trading.)

11 August
2016

th

To
Present

Councillor Terry Cutmore has been an elected councillor for
Rochford North since May 2013, where he also holds the position of
Leader of the Council.
He has a background in international banking and has always held
an active interest in his local community.
He now holds positions on various boards including the Health and
Wellbeing Board for South Essex, Vice Chairman of Castlepoint and
Rochford Local Strategic Partnership and is a Governor at Southend
University Foundation Trust for Essex County Council.
Name
Councillor
Terry
Cutmore

Type of
Member
Essex County
Council
Representative

Details of Declarations

From

To

Member Essex County Council
Member – Rochford District Council
Governor Southend Univeristy Hospital Trust
Chairman – Castlepoint and Rochford Health and
Wellbeing Board
Member Essex Health and Wellbeing Board

May 2013
May 1999
June 2014
May 2013

Present
Present
Present
Present

April 2012

Present
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Councillor Gagan Mohindra
Was elected by Epping, Harlow and Uttlesford District Councils to
act as an attendee on the CCG's Board from January 2017. The
role is neither remunerated or gains voting rights.
Cllr Gagan Mohindra was elected to Epping Forest District Council
in 2006 after a number of successful years in Business. He currently
holds the Finance Portfolio at the District Council and has also
recently been elected to Essex County Council. Gagan is Health
and Wellbeing Champion for councils in west Essex, through this
role and his Chairmanship of One Epping Forest he is working to
support public agencies to work better together in meeting local
need. As well as his role in public sector reform Cllr Mohindra has
recently taken over the role of Chairman of the Board of Governors of Epping Forest College
and is working with colleagues from the further Education sector to enhance the offer and
performance of the college.

Name
Gagan
Mohindra

Type of
Member
West Essex
District Council
Representative
(for and on
behalf of
Epping,
Harlow and
Uttlesford
District
Councils)

Details of Declarations

From

To

Councillor, Epping Forest District Council
Chairman of Governors, Epping Forest College
Governor, Ivy Chimneys Primary School
Chairman, Epping Forest Conservative Association
Councillor, Chigwell Parish Council

May 2006
Jan 2017
Mar 2015

Present
Present
Present

Mar 2015

Present

May 2004

Present

Disclosure of Personal Data Incidents
There were no serious incidents requiring investigation and involving personal data reported
to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) in 2016-2017.
Statement as to Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:


So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit
report;



That the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
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CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
West Essex CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery
and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery
and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities

2.2

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed
by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Deborah
Fielding to be the Accountable Officer of NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:


The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer
is answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking




reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).


The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,



Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).



Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:





Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies
on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and,
Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
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2.3

Governance Statement

Introduction and context
NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by NHS
England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in
particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it
considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2016, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.
Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this
governance statement.
Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.
The CCG’s Constitution sets out the arrangements made for the group to meet its
responsibilities for commissioning care for the people for whom it is responsible. It
describes the governing principles, rules and procedures that the group has established to
ensure probity and accountability in the day to day running of the CCG; to ensure that
decisions are taken in an open and transparent way and that the interests of patients and
the public remain central to its goals.
The Constitution has been supported by the CCG’s Standing Orders, Standing Financial
Instructions and Scheme of Reservation and Delegation and policies including managing
conflicts of interest. The Corporate Governance Manual sets out those decisions that are
reserved for the membership as a whole and decisions that are the responsibility of its
governing body.
The group has observed generally accepted principles of good governance in the way that it
has conducted its business and has developed a Business Code of Conduct bringing

60

together existing standards and guidance from the NHS and other CCG adopted standards
and guidance.
The Code is designed to complement the NHS Constitution; the CCG’s Constitution; CCG’s
policies; official guidance from NHS England and legislation and regulatory requirements. It
also describes the arrangements to be followed for any offers and any offers and acceptance
of gifts and hospitality to and by CCG individuals.
The generally accepted principles of good governance applied by the CCG in conducting its
business include:





The highest standards of propriety involving impartiality, integrity and objectivity in
relation to the stewardship of public funds, the management of the organisation
and the conduct of its business;
The Good Governance Standard for Public Services;
The standards of behaviour published by the Committee on Standards in Public
Life (1995) known as the ‘Nolan Principles’;
The seven key principles of the NHS Constitution;
The Equality Act 2010.

The group has demonstrated its accountability to its members, localities, local people,
stakeholders and to NHS England in a number of ways, including by:












Publishing its Constitution;
Appointing independent lay members and a non-GP clinician to its governing
body;
Holding meetings of its governing body in public (except where the Board
considers that it would not be in the public interest in relation to all or part of a
meeting);
Publishing an annual commissioning plan;
Complying with local authority, health overview and scrutiny requirements;
Producing annual accounts for this financial year which have been externally
audited;
Holding a planned Annual General Meeting in order to publish and present the
annual report and audited accounts in the autumn for the year ending 2015-16;
Having a published and clear complaints process;
Complying with the Freedom of Information Act 2000;
Providing information to NHS England as required;
Working closely with Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Services to ensure
assurance and risk processes within work programmes are aligned to the
statutory responsibilities of the CCG.

In addition to these statutory requirements the group has demonstrated its accountability by:




Publishing it’s principle commissioning and operational policies;
Held monthly or every other month - member practice, membership meetings
and regular GP shutdown meetings;
Holding west Essex public engagement events in 2016-2017, including a number
of public engagement activities carried out relating to the My Care Record
programme. This included gaining input from patients, members of the public,
practice managers, GPs and staff. This was achieved via focus group and faceto-face sessions, to ensure that the design and content of the materials produced
are accessible to all members of the public.
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Information about the Membership of the CCG can be found within the Corporate
Governance Report on page 46.
Staff are advised of new policies and updates to policies via the intranet and briefings to
ensure that individual responsibilities and awareness is appropriately conveyed.
Registers of Interests are maintained by the CCG in compliance with NHS Englands
Managing Conflicts of Interest: Revised Statutory Guidance for CCGs.
The CCG has encouraged its employees to report concerns as soon as practicably possible
and provides a number of options to do so. This information is detailed in the Anti-Fraud and
Bribery Policy with supporting internal publicity including posters and leaflets in staff areas. A
reviewed and updated Whistleblowing Policy is in place setting out a process to raise any
concerns together with a revised and up to date Managing Conflicts of Interest Policy in line
with NHS England’s statutory guidance.
The Board has, throughout the year, had an ongoing role in reviewing the group’s
governance arrangements to ensure the continuous reflection of the principles of good
governance, including for example reviewing and approving updated terms of reference for
the reporting committees to ensure that they were fit for purpose.
The CCG continues to develop its decision making to reflect the duty to do this as close as
possible to the patient, to encourage local innovation and the delivery of patient centred
commissioning. Continued further engagement with a wide range of local people, partners
and stakeholders enabled us to gather their views and ideas.
The Board is responsible for setting the strategic priorities of the CCG. This includes
ensuring the optimal use of resources to improve health and health services. This remit
includes commissioning of elective hospital care, rehabilitation, urgent and emergency care
(including out of hours services), community health services, services for children and
younger persons, maternity services, mental health and learning disability services.
The Board, acting on behalf of the CCG membership, is responsible for ensuring that the
CCG has appropriate governance frameworks, resources, capability and capacity in place to
enable the organisation to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically to
meet its delegated responsibilities and in accordance with accepted good governance
principles.
The Board is responsible for holding the executive to account for the delivery of the CCG
strategy. The Board is advised on all service and commissioning decisions by the Executive
Health and Care Commissioning Committee and the Executive Committee.
A public Board is held every other month, with Board development sessions tabled so that
they fall every two months, taking place in the months falling consecutively to the public
Boards.
The key highlights of the Board’s work for this year have been:



Endorsing the CCG’s application for full delegation of primary care co-commissioning
from NHS England.
Receiving a presentation from the Director of Nursing at Princess Alexandra Hospital
NHS Trust, Harlow, following their Care Quality Commission report.
Reviewing and receiving regular updates on the Hertfordshire and west Essex
Sustainability and Transformation Plan.
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Receiving an update from Stellar Healthcare and Uttlesford Health on the progress of the
Prime Minister’s access fund programme, providing weekend GP services and
developing a weekday evening GP service.
Receiving a presentation on the Right Care programme, identifying areas where
outcomes and value can be improved through pathway redesign.
Approving the Essex mental health strategy, providing a vision for mental health and
wellbeing in Essex, Southend and Thurrock, with a focus on prevention, early
intervention and crisis care.
Agreeing to continue the current west Essex and East and North Hertfordshire (PAH
catchment area) hyper and acute stroke pathway at Barking, Havering and Redbridge
University Hospitals NHS Trust (BHRT).
Receiving the Annual Public Health Report.
Agreeing the Essex Dementia Strategy, supporting the delivery of an Essex wide
strategy that delivers integrated care to all people living with dementia.
Agreeing the Essex public health approach, aiming to ensure the sustainability of public
health support system that prioritises prevention, innovation and new ways of meeting
physical and mental health need.
Receiving the Hertfordshire and west Essex digital roadmap.
Approving plans including the operational plan, financial plan for 2017-2018 and a
contestability strategy.
Approving policies including managing conflicts of interest and procurement.
Receiving regular reports on finance, performance, quality and risks and associated
management arrangements.

The governing body has 16 voting members, of which the majority are clinicians. The
principles and approach by which the CCG manages actual and potential conflicts of interest
including the Board and committees agendas, particularly in relation to decision making, is
covered within our Managing Conflicts of Interest Policy. The voting and the non-voting
membership is as follows:Voting membership:











6 GP members one of whom has been elected as chair and one as
clinical vice chair
2 lay members (Governance and Patient and Public Engagement) with
the Lay Member – Governance as Deputy Chair
Secondary care specialist consultant
Chief Medical Officer who acts as Clinical Director (also a practicing
clinician)
Director of Nursing and Quality
Chief Officer who acts as the ‘Accountable Officer’ (also a registered
nurse)
Director of Finance, Contracting and Performance (Deputy Chief
Officer) who acts as Chief Finance Officer
Director of Transformation
Director of Primary Care and Localities
Social Services Representative (vacancy)

Non-voting membership:



Consultant in Public Health
Member of Essex County Council
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Lay Member - Quality

Could have
attended

Did attend

Meetings of the Board in public 2016 - 2017

8
8
8
8
7
3
5
8

8
6
8
4
6
3
5
7

8
8
8
8
8
8

6
8
4
6
7
7

GP Board Member Representative Uttlesford

8

7

GP Board Member Representative Epping

8

7

GP Board Member Representative Harlow

8

5

Secondary Care Consultant
Essex County Council Representative
Social Services Representative

8
8
0

5
4
0

CCG Chair - Chair of Committee
CCG Clinical Vice Chair
Lay Member- Governance/Deputy Chair
Lay Member - PPE
Lay Member - Quality
Chief Officer - Interim
Chief Officer
Director of Finance, Contracting &
Performance
Consultant in Public Health
Director of Primary Care & Localities
Director of Nursing & Quality
Director of Transformation
Chief Medical Officer
GP Board Member Representative Uttlesford

Audit Committee – meets every other month
This committee provides the CCG’s governing body with an independent and objective view
of the group’s financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations
and directions governing the group in so far as they relate to finance, good corporate
governance and the group’s responsibility to act effectively, efficiently and economically.
The Audit Committee is chaired by the Lay Member for Governance and its other members
comprise of the Lay Member for Quality, the Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement
and an additional lay member, who was a qualified accountant, was appointed and in post
from 20th April to 31st December 2016. . The Lay Member for Quality is only required to
attend should another lay member be unable to. The Committee met in line with the terms
of reference, attendance records are shown below.
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The Audit Committee and Board reviewed, updated and approved the Audit Committee’s
terms of reference once during the year as part of the regular annual evaluation process.
The annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is considered by the Audit Committee and any
issues debated or rectifying action plans put in place to address any concerns.
The CCG’s Annual Governance Statement will be considered by the Audit Committee and
debated and amended prior to recommendation of acceptance. It is only after the Audit
Committee approval that the CCG Accountable Officer signs off the statement.
The Audit Committee is aware of all ongoing fraud allegations and actions through the
updates provided by the Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) which details all fraud
reported and under investigation as well as outcomes.
The key highlights of the Audit Committee work for this year have been:-








Lay Member- Governance - Chair
Lay Member - PPE
Lay Member – Quality 1 (commenced July
2016)
Lay Member – Finance
Lay Member – Quality 2 (appointment
ended May 2016)

Did attend



The focus on reviewing assurances on clinical governance and the implementation of
new guidance on conflicts of interest, gifts hospitality and, procurement.
Receiving reports on the challenges implementing guidance on information governance
data for commissioning purposes, asking for the strategic risk this presents to integration
to be included on the risk register.
Cyber security is still an area of concern and significant discussion took place on this
issue, noting that though national guidance is awaited, actions to promote staff
awareness and basic prevention measures are being undertaken.
Local procedures in respect of conflicts of interest have been updated in line with
national guidance.
Reviewing the Whistleblowing Policy and recommending this to the Board for approval,
noting that further updates will be required due to primary care commissioning. An
annual report on whistleblowing was also received.
Receiving the first Clinical Assurance Annual Report. It was noted that processes have
commenced on the implementation of NICE guidance and the Committee requested a
report every six months.
Could have
attended



8
8
0

8
7
0

6
1

5
1

Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee – met at least twice a year
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This committee has delegated responsibility for making decisions on behalf of the Board on
all aspects of the remuneration and terms of service of the Executive leadership team of the
CCG and clinical representatives (and any assessment of their performance).
The Committee is chaired by the Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement and its
other membership comprises of the CCG’s Chairman, Lay Member for Governance who is
also the committee’s vice chair and the Lay Member for Quality., The Committee met in line
with the terms of reference on each occasion and attendance records are shown below.
The key highlights of the work of the Committee were:-






CCG Chair
Lay Member - PPE - Chair of Committee
Lay Member- Governance/Deputy Chair
Lay Member - Quality - Vice Chair of
Committee
CCG Clinical Vice Chair

Did



Setting and considering the retention and reward of posts and their remuneration that fall
within the remit of the Committee.
Setting and considering the retention and reward of new executive members and lay
members and their remuneration.
Setting and considering the pay of GP Board members and clinical executives.
Overseeing the appointment process of recruiting a new Chief Officer.
Reviewing the objectives of the Chief Officer and executive team.
Reviewing all off payroll contracts.
Could have



5
5
5
4

5
2
5
4

5

2

Executive Health and Care Commissioning Committee – monthly meeting
This committee provides the Board with assurance in relation to any assigned or delegated
actions and processes relating to the CCG’s compliance with its statutory responsibilities.
It is chaired by the CCG’s Chairman with other voting membership consisting of the CCG’s
Chief Officer, Clinical Vice Chair, the Clinical Director, 6 Clinical Transformation Leads,
Director of Finance, Contracting and Performance, the Director of Nursing and Quality, the
Director of Transformation, the Director of Primary Care and Localities and the Consultant in
Public Health.The committee met in line with the terms of reference and attendance records
are shown on below.
The key highlights of the work of the committee have been:


Rightcare programme and priorities – The committee approved and supported the
programme. The top four priority programmes include respiratory, musculosketal (MSK),
cardiovalscular disease (CVD) and frailty.
West Essex Stroke Service – The committee approved the business case for the current
Stroke service with the majority of west Essex / East and North Hertfordshire suspected
stroke patients being conveyed by East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust to

66



Chief Officer – Interim*
Chief Officer
CCG Chair - Chair of Committee
CCG Clinical - Vice Chair
Clinical Lead – Older People
Clinical Lead – Medicines Management &
Integrated Adults
Clinical Lead - Primary Care
Clinical Lead - Urgent Care
Clinical Lead - MH & LD
Clinical Lead - Children, Young People &
Maternity
Director of Finance, Contracting &
Performance
Director of Nursing & Quality
Director of Transformation
Chief Medical Officer
Director of Primary Care & Localities
Consultant in Public Health
Integrated Commissioning Director (West),
ECC
Clinical Lead

Did attend



Could have
attended



Barking, Havering and Redbridge University Hospitals NHS Trust (Queens’s hospital
Romford) with a small number going to Broomfield, Lister and Addenbrookes hospitals.
Fully delegated commissioning – The committee noted GPs had voted for fully delegated
commissioning with 29 voting, 20 for and 9 against. The Local Medical Committee (LMC)
were in support.
Information sharing for shared care records – The committee approved the introduction
of sharing care records with partner organisations, this will significantly improve
information available to clinicians to manage patient care and will deliver an improved
service to patients.
0 – 19 procurement - West Essex CCG Board and Essex County Council members
agreed to award the contract to the preferred bidder in November 2016 which was Virgin
Care, in partnership with Barnado’s.

4
12
12
12
12
12

3
12
9
9
9
7

12
12
12
12

10
8
8
10

12

6

12
12
12
12
12
0

5
6
9
10
9
0

6

1

Quality Committee - meet every other month
This committee provides an assurance and scrutiny role on the performance of all
commissioned services in relation to all aspects of quality including patient safety, patient
experience and effectiveness of outcomes.
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It is chaired by the Lay Member for Quality, and has as its membership, Lay Member for
Patient and Public Engagement as Vice Chair, the Director of Nursing and Quality, the
Clinical Director, two CCG GP leads, the Secondary Care Consultant, Deputy Director of
Nursing and Quality, Clinical Quality Lead, Clinical Quality Specialist, North Essex CCGs
Clinical Quality Lead for Mental Health & Learning Disabilities, Infection Prevention and
Control Lead Nurse, Designated Nurse – Safeguarding Children, Designated Nurse
Safeguarding Adults, Children’s Services Commissioner, Chief Pharmacist and Assistant
Director of Communications.
The committee met in line with the terms of reference and attendance records are shown
below.
Key highlights of the work of the committee were:















Strengthening existing policies and overseeing the development of new ones within the
CCG, creating robust procedures that will ensure high quality standards are met and
exceeded where possible.
Increased joint working with Essex County Council to strengthen oversight and
assurance of care homes.
Working with the acute trust to investigate A&E target breaches, including investigating
breaches and providing recommendations, an action plan and ongoing support to help
reduce breaches and improve the patient journey.
Whole system working to support multi agency investigations where required and
ensuring learning and full reports are effectively shared across the system.
Supporting the acute trust to action learning and development from the Care Quality
Commission inspection. This has included review of their quality improvement plan.
Working with the wider system to support effective pathways within maternity services to
improve patient safety and experience.
Strengthening oversight and management of key clinical and quality risks.
Working on developing the Quality Assurance and Oversight Group (QAOG).
o Development of a RAG rating tool for providers.
o Gathering and utilising both soft intelligence and hard data to focus quality assurance
priorities.
Strengthening contract monitoring.
Strengthening Serious Incidents Assurance Panel (SIAP) and process.
Safeguarding Assurance pilot Tool.
Continuing Healthcare Assurance pilot Tool (CHAT).
Implementing a process for the management of Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
(DoLS).
Safeguarding Standards into 0 - 19 Procurement.
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Could have
attended

Did attend

Director of Nursing & Quality
Chief Medical Officer
Clinical Lead – Medicines Management &
Integrated Adults
Lay Member - Quality - Chair
Lay Member - PPE - Vice Chair
Deputy Director of Nursing & Quality
Clinical Quality Lead
Clinical Quality Specialist
NE CCGs Clinical Quality Lead MH & LD
Infection Prevention & Control Lead Nurse
Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults
Assistant Director of Communications &
Engagement
Chief Pharmacist
Designate Safeguarding Children Lead
Nurse
Children's Services Commissioner
Secondary Care Consultant

7
7
7

7
6
5

7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7

4
6
5
6
5
5
3
5
3

7
7

3
3

7
7

3
3

Finance and Performance Committee – monthly meeting
This committee provides an assurance and scrutiny role on behalf of the Board on all
aspects of the organisation’s financial performance and strategy, commissioning and
contracting activities including the transformation programme delivery and performance with
the exception of quality indicators.
It is chaired by the Chair of the CCG and the membership includes the Clinical Vice Chair
(Deputy Chair of the Committee), the Chief Officer, a GP Board Member, the Director of
Finance, Contracting and Performance, the Director of Primary Care and Localities, the
Director of Transformation, the Clinical Director, the Lay Member for Governance (CCG
Deputy Chair), the Head of Performance, the Assistant Director of Contracting and
Performance, the Director of Nursing and Quality and the Consultant in Public Health. The
committee met in line with the terms of reference and attendance records are shown below.
Key highlights of the committee’s work this year have been:





Monitoring the development and implementation of the in year financial performance.
Overseeing the development and monitored reporting of the West Essex Integrated
Health and Social Care Scorecard.
Overseeing the arrangements for and monitoring the reporting of the West Essex Better
Care Fund.
Overseeing the monitoring of all key aspects of the organisation’s performance against
key constitutional targets for all providers together with important recovery actions as
required and in particular local urgent care performance.
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Chief Officer – in post from August 2016
Chief Officer – Interim in post until August 2016
CCG Chair -Chair of Committee
CCG Clinical Vice Chair
GP Board Member Representative
Director of Finance, Contracting &
Performance
Lay Member- Governance/Deputy ChairChair of Committee
Lay Member Finance
Director of Primary Care & Localities
Director of Transformation
Chief Medical Officer
Head of Performance
Assistant Director of Contracting &
Performance
Director of Nursing & Quality
Public Health Reprentative (as & when
required)
Integrated Commissioning Director (West),
ECC
Chief Officer – in post until April 2016

Did attend

Monitoring and oversight of the organisation’s transformation and efficiency schemes.
Receive regular reports in respect of Primary Care and Estates Developments including
risks to delivery.

Could have
attended*




7
3
11
11
11
11

1
2
8
5
0
11

11

11

8
11
11
11
11
11

5
10
3
9
8
3

11
0

6
0

1

1

*Deputies attended where directors could not.
Executive Committee – fortnightly meeting
This committee provides effective leadership that oversaw all aspects of operational
activities, which has ensured that the CCG had adequate organisational capacity and
capability to meet statutory requirements and strategic development.
It is chaired by the Chief Officer and membership includes one CCG GP Board Member, the
Director of Finance, Contracting and Performance (Deputy Chief Officer), the Director of
Transformation, the Director of Nursing and Quality, the Chief Medical Officer (Clinical
Director), the Director of Primary Care and Localities, the Consultant in Public Health, and
the Head of Governance and Corporate Services. The committee met in line with the terms
of reference and attendance records are shown below.
The key highlights of the work of the committee during the year were:-
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The development of the CCG’s approach to procurement, contestability and conflicts of
interest and recommendation of these policies to the Board.
The recommendation of the 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 operational plan to the Board.
Receiving updates on organisational development.
Reviewing and agreeing policies and procedures relating to the organisation’s
emergency preparedness, resilience and response.
Reviewing and agreeing the risk register and board assurance framework and
recommending to the Board.
Receiving updates on human resources and reviewing and agreeing associated policies.
Reviewing and agreeing information governance policies.
Receiving updates from the CCG’s Equality and Diversity Group.
Receiving updates and feeding into the west Essex and Hertfordshire Sustainability and
Transformation Plan.
Could
have
Did
attended attend
7
6

Chief Officer - Chair - Interim
Chief Officer - Chair

12

9

CCG GP Board Member – Clinical Vice Chair
Director of Finance, Contracting & Performance
- Deputy Chair

20

11

20

18

Director of Primary Care & Localities

20
20
20
20
20

17
17
12
14
13

8
9

7
7

0

0

Director of Transformation
Director of Nursing & Quality
Chief Medical Officer
Consultant in Public Health
Associate Director of Governance & Corporate
Services
Head of Governance & Corporate Services
Integrated Commissioning Director (West), ECC
UK Corporate Governance Code

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However,
we have reviewed our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be
relevant to the CCG and best practice as detailed below.
Discharge of Statutory Functions
The Corporate Governance Framework evidences how the CCG complies with all relevant
legislation; a position arrived at following expert legal input. The same approach underwrites
matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations, I am assured that the
clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each
of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation
of those functions.
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Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties and keep this
under constant review.
Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
The CCG Risk Management Framework
The CCG is committed to ensuring that risk management forms an integral part of its
philosophy, practices and business plans with responsibility for implementation being
accepted at all levels.
The Risk Management Policy has been reviewed, approved and adopted by the Board. It
provides a framework for a streamlined, systematic and proactive approach to all clinical and
non-clinical operational and strategic risks.
The aim of the risk management framework is to:






Ensure that all individuals, committees and the Board are aware of their roles and
responsibilities.
Support all staff and the Board through provision of risk management training.
Create a learning culture that encourages the sharing of knowledge to risk
assessment and risk management.
Enable a positive attitude to risk management.
Develop and promote policies and procedures that support all in identifying and
managing risk.
Encompass the management of risks inherent in activities that seek to deliver project
and business objectives.

Our Board Assurance Framework provides the risks that are identified that are over-arching
or provide a high level of risk that could adversely impact on the CCG reaching its planned
goals or strategic objectives. The more detailed business or operational risk elements are
recorded on the Operational Risk Register.
The Executive Committee review the Board Assurance Framework and Risk Register
regularly, to ensure progress is made on mitigating actions and recommends or approves
where risks are to be closed.
The Audit Committee reviews both the Board Assurance Framework and Risk Register for
the effectiveness of the process at each meeting.
The Board is routinely presented with the Board Assurance Framework on the risks to the
strategic objectives together with the red risks on the business or operational risks for
scrutiny, challenge and assurance.
The risk management framework enables the CCG to:



Identify all reasonably foreseeable risks, particularly which may potentially have
adverse effects on the quality of care, safety of patients, staff and visitors (risk
identification).
Assess risks in terms of likelihood and severity (risk assessment).
Apply risk ratings to identified risks (risk quantification).
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Identify the appropriate level of management to be responsible for the risk (risk
owner).
Take positive action to eliminate or reduce risks to as low as is reasonably
practicable and continually review these actions (risk treatment).
Keep the Board, Executive and Audit Committees and other relevant
committees appraised of the significant risks present across the CCG
(principally via the Board Assurance Framework, Risk Register and risk
reports).
Create an escalation and accountability framework to help ensure satisfactory
risk mitigation processes and to ensure risk owners are encouraged and
supported in their task.

The CCG has in place:








A risk register on which the latest updates are reported.
Clear ownership of risks with escalation arrangements in place to the Board.
A recording process for all risks and incidents.
Appropriate and consistent validation of risks through use of the risk
methodology and review by the committees and Board.
Learning from incidents through root cause analysis and shared learning.
Triangulation of complaints and incidents.
The accurate reflection of known strategic risks to the organisation through the
Board Assurance Framework.
Mandatory training on risk management.

Risk management was further embedded in the activity of the CCG, for example, by
undertaking equality impact assessments (EIAs); completion of EIAs is becoming integrated
into the CCG’s core business through informing policies, business cases, plans, proposals,
strategies and decision making to manage or reduce the identified risks.
The CCG has developed an “open, just and non-punitive” culture where all staff are
encouraged to report adverse incidents, near misses and hazards in the knowledge that
incidents or errors are not normally investigated through the disciplinary procedure.
A number of policies and procedures are in place to enable managers and staff to resolve
concerns or issues that may arise. The Whistleblowing Policy also provided a framework for
employees to raise concerns in line with the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998, without the
perception of being disloyal to colleagues, managers or the organisation. Our disciplinary
procedure promotes an approach where action will only be taken when it is felt that staff
deliberately attempt to disguise errors and / or dangerous practice, or when the incident
involves significant negligence or significant poor standards of care.
The CCG is committed to identifying the underlying or root causes of incidents, claims and
complaints and the principal objective is to identify “system failures”, rather than focusing on
individual malfunctions.
The CCG involves public stakeholders in managing risks that impact on them by having an
opportunity to contribute to the process – this also promotes good communication and
notification of risk. Feedback on risk issues is encouraged through the Patient Advice Liaison
Service (PALS), patient and public involvement fora and other relevant bodies. All managers
and employees understand the potential value of risk reporting from patients and / or
members of the public and adopt a welcoming attitude to comments and complaints, with
thorough follow up of any potential risks identified. Information is provided in the public
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domain (on the CCG’s website and through newsletters) on clear points of contact and
stresses the importance of public feedback.
Risk appetite
The CCG understands it has to live with a degree of risk as it is impossible to eliminate all
threats. The strategic steer for the risk appetite of the CCG has been provided through the
Board’s approval of the Risk Management Policy incorporating the risk management matrix
approach to be taken across the organisation.
Mitigation and Management of Risk
The application of the risk management framework enables the prevention of risk through:





Commitment to identifying the underlying or root causes of incidents, claims and
complaints.
Promoting an open, just and non-punitive culture.
Driving an ongoing information and education programme which empowers and
supports staff in the risk management process.
Updating and maintaining the knowledge of Board members.
All staff being familiar with the terms of the Anti-fraud and Bribery Policy through
promotion with the help of Counter Fraud services.

Deterrents for Risks Arising
The deterrents for risks arising are referenced within the Audit Committee section of this
statement. They include counter fraud activity which plays a key part in deterring risks to the
organisation’s financial viability and probity. An annual counter fraud plan is agreed by the
Audit Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation of
fraud. The CCG’s Standing Orders, Standing Financial Instructions and policies and
procedures place an obligation on all employees and lay members to act in accordance with
best practice in order to prevent fraud, bribery and corruption.
If there is evidence of fraud it is referred to our Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) and
following the conclusion of an investigation, available sanctions will be considered in
accordance with NHS Protect guidance. This may include criminal prosecution, civil
proceedings and disciplinary action, as well as referral to a professional or regulatory body.
Awareness of the need to detect and deter risks is available to all employees through
posters on display, leaflets and surveys together with an educational lite bite related session.
Our information risk policies provide all staff with information regarding compliance with legal
requirements and how to avoid breaches of any law, statutory, regulatory or contractual
obligations and security requirements in relation to the prevention of misuse of information.
Management of Current Risks
The management of our current risks is in accordance with our risk management framework
– Section 2 and as applied under the Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk
Management and Internal Control – Section 2.
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The CCG Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to
ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the
risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The control mechanisms are described within the Risk Management Framework - Section 2.
Capacity to Handle Risk
The risk management framework has previously been set out in this statement. Within the
risk management accountability and reporting structure, the Accountable Officer has overall
responsibility for risk management and assurance processes including the implementation of
those processes. The Accountable Officer holds Executive Directors to account in their role
as risk owners. The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls
and receives a red risk report at each Board meeting. Risk management issues are
channelled to the Board from the Executive Committee, with the Audit Committee providing
assurance to the Board on the risk management system and controls in place as it is the
Audit Committee which is responsible for ensuring that the CCG establishes and maintains
effective systems of integrated governance, risk management and internal controls across
the whole of the organisation’s activities.
The Accountable Officer is the Executive Director with overall responsibility for corporate
governance and risk management and is also responsible for all facets of financial risks. The
Director of Nursing and Quality is responsible for clinical governance and clinical risk
management, to provide expert professional advice throughout the organisation and be the
focal point for clinical risk issues within the Quality Committee.
The Executive Directors have been assigned responsibility for operational management of
the CCG on a day to day basis and, as such, the Board have been assured that risk
management issues are integral to the decision making process.

Risk Assessment
Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control
At the end of the year our risk profile was seen by the CCG Board in March 2017 which was
comprised of the following:
Strategic Risks
Our profile on the risks to achieving our strategic objectives at the end of March is:-

Red

Amber
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Yellow or Green




(High)

(Significant)

0

6

(Low)

3

Corporate Operational Risks
At the end of the year our profile of risks was as follows:Number
of red
risks
(high)

Number of
amber risks
(significant)

10

28

Number of
yellow risks
(moderate)

Number
of green
risks
(low)

11

1

The remaining red assessed corporate operational risks are identified as:Risk description

Risk level (out of
a potential score
of 25) at year
end

Acute Trust continues to have significant shortfall of
qualified nursing staff, impact on discharge and length of
stay (LOS) on main wards.
Performance Failure: A&E 4 hour standard
Non-achievement of 95% of patients seen, treated and
admitted or discharged within 4 hours of arriving at A&E
with an increased risk of mortality in ED
System ability to mobilise and fund sufficient winter bed
capacity to meet demand
Capacity to provide Health Based Places of Safety (HBPoS)
for people detained under Section 136 are limited. Royal
College of Psychiatrists guidelines means that suites do not
meet the recommended standards and will be subject to
closure to allow remedial actions to be taken.
CHC reviews backlog - safeguarding issues in care homes
and long term sickness in CHC team
CQC inspection of PAH has indicated an overall rating of
inadequate.
System challenge for delayed transfer of care (DTOC)
standard effective discharge flows.
Performance Failure: Ambulance response time
Potential further close down for Previously Unassessed
Periods of Care (PUPOC) in 2017 which would lead to
further enquiries to the CCG from the public for cases to be
considered
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25
20
20
20

20

16
16
16
15
15

These risks will be carried forward into 2017-2018. Working within the risk management
framework, the respective committees of Quality, Finance and Performance, Executive
Health and Care Commissioning and Executive will lead the controls and mitigating actions
required with the responsible Executive Director lead. The Audit Committee will provide
scrutiny and challenge to the risk management of these risks and provide an assurance
opinion to the Board. The Board will ensure that any additional measures are fully explored
in order to manage or reduce the identified risks.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
On Friday 12th May 2017, West Essex CCG was affected by the national cyber-attack. The
CCG immediately took action to implement its business continuity plans. Steps are being
undertaken nationally to investigate the cause and impact.
Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
In January 2017 Mazars undertook an annual independent internal audit of West Essex
CCG Conflicts of Interest and provided the following findings - that they had received
adequate assurance from West Essex CCG of the controls in place, and the level of
compliance with those controls.
The audit requirements and scope of any audit of conflicts of interest relating to CCGs were
laid out within a guidance document issued by NHS England in September 2016.
Data Quality
The NHS in England administers a budget of around £120 billion per year. In order to get
the best value and to treat the most patients, the NHS relies on working closely with other
organisations, for example Social Care, to use data and information to plan and deliver high
quality services. By sharing limited data for specific purposes, the health and care system
can continue to provide care to where it is needed most.
However, NHS Patients in England do have the right to opt out of having their confidential
information shared for purposes other than their own direct care, this is known as the 'Type 2
opt-out'. Patients are only able to register the opt-out at their GP practice.
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During 2016-2017 the Secretary of State for Health issued a mandate that the NHS would
uphold a patient's request for Type 2 Objection. This resulted in a very large programme of
work for NHS Digital, Commissioning Support Units and Clinical Commissioning Groups to
amend processes to ensure data flows for anything other than direct patient care were
pseudonymised. Due to these significant shifts in procedures there have been some real
challenges to guarantee the continuation of the business critical functions of contract
validation, risk stratification and effective commissioning of health services. The associated
issues were added to the Board Assurance Framework and the Risk Register along with a
range of actions to mitigate any adverse effects from the changes. The work programme
has continued throughout 2016-2017 and whilst some challenges still remain the CCG has
established steps to maintain the legal flow of usable data.
Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to
the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. West Essex CCG has
submitted v14 of the IG Toolkit, covering the financial year 2016-2017 and has submitted as
"Satisfactory” i.e. level 2 against all criteria.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and
processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have established
an information governance management framework and are developing / have developed
information governance processes and procedures in line with the information governance
toolkit.
The CCG’s Caldicott Guardian is the Chief Medical Officer of the Governing Body and has
particular responsibility for protecting the confidentiality of patients / service user’s
information. Acting as the 'conscience' of the CCG, the Caldicott Guardian actively support’s
work to enable information sharing where it is appropriate to share and advises on options
for lawful and ethical processing of information.
The role of Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) has been assigned to the Director of
Finance, Contracting and Performance. The SIRO takes ownership of both the
organisation’s information risks policy and acts as advocate for information risk to the
Governing Body .
We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and have
implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their
information governance roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
We are developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a
programme will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisation against identified risks.

Business Critical Models
In line with best practice recommendations of the 2013 MacPherson review into the quality
assurance of analytical models, West Essex CCG confirms that an appropriate framework
and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of business critical models. This
position was confirmed at Audit Committee for March 2017.
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Third party assurances
Where third parties are assigned through services commissioned by West Essex CCG,
provider compliance is regulated through clauses such as General Condition 12 of the NHS
Standard Terms 2016-2017 and regular performance monitoring.
Control Issues
Following West Essex CCGs Month 9 Governance Statement return no significant control
issues were identified.
Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources
Ensuring the effective and efficient use of resources is a key duty of the CCG.
The CCG’s Finance and Performance Committee reviews and agrees the organisation’s
financial plans and budgets at the beginning of the year and is responsible for receiving and
reviewing the detailed monthly finance and performance reports in respect of the CCG’s
operational performance together with its performance against transformation and efficiency
targets.
The Board is required to approve the annual financial plan and did so for 2016-2017.
At each meeting the Board receives a report on key financial and performance issues
including related risks.
The continuous requirement to deliver year on year efficiency within available resources is
developed in line with best practice and benchmarking of key performance metrics whilst
demonstrating that the health needs of the local population are being considered and
appropriately commissioned. From a corporate running cost originally allocated at £22.07
per head of population the CCG has achieved an actual figure of £19.73 per head.
Key financial risks are incorporated with the organisation’s risk register which is subject to
review by the Executive and Audit Committees, with risks rated significant being reported to
the Board.
Internal audit plans are approved by the Executive Committee and endorsed by the Audit
Committee and will provide a focus on areas relating key controls required to ensure the
effective use of resources.
The External Auditor provides assurance through their opinion on whether the CCG’s
financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position at the end of each year
and of the regularity of expenditure and income. The External Auditor also reports on an
exception basis where they are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended
31 March 2017. The External Auditor had no matters to report in relation to these matters for
the year ended 31 March 2017.
The CCG has in place appropriate procurement procedures to ensure that value for money
is achieved when tendering for goods and services.
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Counter fraud arrangements
Oversight is exercised by commissioning internal audit review via a risk based audit plan and
the receipt of reports at the Audit Committee from external and internal auditors and the
Local Counter Fraud Service (LCFS). These reports detail areas of concern. The Committee
reviews the draft and final Annual Accounts prior to recommending their approval, receives
and reviews the annual audit letters, audit recommendations and Annual Report and reviews
progress made to clear audit recommendations throughout the year. In addition the
assurance processes for both the Operational Risk Register and Board Assurance
Framework are regularly reviewed, together with the receipt of reports on losses, bad debts,
hospitality and gifts and tender waivers which are provided at each Audit Committee.
Internal Audit and LCFS risk assessments and plans are reviewed at the Audit Committee.
The Committee receives reports from Internal Audit and from the LCFS at each meeting and
requests updates and follow up actions as appropriate. In addition there is discussion with
NHS England regarding how counter fraud risk is managed across Commissioning Support
Unit boundaries.
The LCFS provides regular updates to the Director of Finance, Contracting and Performance
on all aspects of the proactive and reactive work undertaken at the CCG and progression
against the agreed work plan.
The LCFS has a standing item on the Audit Committee agenda and presents a report
detailing the work being undertaken against NHS Protect’s seven generic areas for
countering fraud in the NHS. An update on the progression of investigations and the
implementation of recommendations is also provided at these meetings. The CCG
undertakes briefings on fraud to the Audit Committee.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded
that:
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:

Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Financial Systems Key Controls

Adequate Assurance (Draft)

Governance, Assurance
Framework and Risk
Management

Good Assurance (Draft)

Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund
Governance

Deferred
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and

is

now

included

in

WECCGs 2017/18 audit plan
Conflicts of Interest

Adequate Assurance (Draft)

Medicines Management

Adequate Assurance

Personal Health Budgets

Limited Assurance

Procurement

Adequate Assurance (Draft)

Lead Commissioner Governance

Adequate Assurance (Draft)

GP Provider Company Governance

Adequate Assurance

Information Governance Toolkit

Fieldwork complete

There have been no significant internal control issues or gaps in control.
Based on the work undertaken up until the 15 February 2017, the Head of Internal Audit
issued an interim independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s system of risk management, governance and internal
control.
The Interim Head of Internal Audit Opinion concluded that adequate assurance can be given
that there is a generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the CCG’s
objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some
weakness in design and / or inconsistent application of controls put the achievement of
particular objectives at risk. The Head of Internal Audit’s opinion also concluded that he can
provide adequate assurance that the Assurance Framework is sufficient to meet the
requirements of the 2016-2017 Governance Statement and provide a reasonable assurance
that there is an adequate and effective system of internal control to manage the significant
risks identified by the CCG. However, the report was prepared based on the work that has
been conducted up until 15 February 2017. The Head of Internal Audit therefore reserves
the right to amend the opinion once all of our work has been completed.
During the year to the 15 February 2017, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports
with limited assurance which identified governance, risk management and/or control issues
which were significant to the organisation:
Audit of Personal Health Budgets (PHBs)
Internal Audit raised a total of four priority 1 and two priority 2 recommendations. The priority
1 recommendations raised were:


The PHB Local Offer should updated to clearly outline:
o Who is currently eligible for PHBs;
o The new pathways that are being scoped;
o How individuals can apply for a PHB;
o Which organisations are involved in the delivery of PHBs; and
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3

Remuneration and Staff Report

REMUNERATION REPORT
Remuneration Committee
Information on the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee, including membership
and attendance for 2016-17 are detailed on page 66, within the Governance Statement.
Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The CCG uses the NHS Commissioning Board Authority published remuneration guidance
for CCG Chief Officers and Chief Finance Officers in determining the remuneration for these
roles. For other Very Senior Manager (VSM) roles, the previous NHS VSM framework is
used as a guide. The CCG benchmarks with local CCGs to ensure that remuneration is in
line with the local Economy. Remuneration for all senior roles is agreed via the
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee.
For all othe staff, the Agenda for Change framework is applied.
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
No senior manager of the CCG is paid more than £142,500 per annum.
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements)
Subject to Audit

NAME

TITLE

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

2016-17
Expense
Performance
Long -term
All pensionpayments
pay and bonuses performance
related
(Taxable) to
pay and bonuses
benefits
the nearest £100
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
£5000)
£5000)
£2,500)
£00
£000
£000
£000

Dates served
Total
Commenced

Ceased

£5000)
£000

VOTING MEMBERS
Executive Directors
Dr Rob Gerlis
Andrew Geldard1
Deborah Fielding2
Dean Westcott
Dr Christine Moss
Jane Kinniburgh
Dr Kamal Bishai
Dr Amik Aneja
Dr Angus Henderson
Dr Sanjeev Rana
Dr Janet West
Dr Duncan Forsyth
Toni Coles
Peter Wightman

Chair and GP Member
Chief Officer
Chief Officer
Director of Finance, Contracting and Performance / Deputy Chief Officer
Clinical Director
Director of Nursing and Quality
Clinical Vice Chair/GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
Secondary Care Consultant
Director of Transformation
Director of Primary Care & Localities

Lay Members
Stephen King
Jackie Sully
Pauline Quinn3

Lay member, Governance and Deputy Chair
Lay member, PPE
Lay members, Quality

NON VOTING MEMBERS
Dr Maggie Pacini4
Councillor Cutmore4
Peter Boylan 5
Councillor Mohindra6

Consultant, Public Health
Member of Essex County Council
Lay members, Quality
Member of Epping Forest District Council

1
2
3

80-85
30-35
80-85
105-110
50-55
95-100
45-50
45-50
55-60
60-65
25-30
5-10
95-100
95-100

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
25-27.5
15-17.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
22.5-25
5-7.5

80-85
30-35
80-85
130-135
65-70
95-100
45-50
45-50
55-60
60-65
25-30
5-10
115-120
100-105

01-Apr-13
11-Apr-16
15-Aug-16
01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13
17-Mar-14
01-Apr-13
27-Jul-15
27-Jul-15
27-Jul-15
27-Jul-15
01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13
01-Oct-14

15-20
5-10
0-5

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

15-20
5-10
0-5

01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13

0
0
O-10
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
O-10
0

01-Apr-13
20-May-14
15-Jul-16
30-Mar-17

Andrew Geldard was acting Chief Officer from 11th April to 15th August 2016
Deborah Fielding was appointed as Chief officer 15th August 2016, salary shown above therefore reflects part Year only.
Pauline Quinn Lay member quality, left 31st May 2016.

4

Remuneration provided by Essex County Council.

5

Peter Boylan was appointed as Lay member quality on 15th July 2016, was a voting member until 28th December 2016 when the post moved to Non Voting.

6

Councillor Mohindra was appointed in January. Remuneration is provided by Epping Forest District Council.
Only GP members who are members of the Board have been included in this table.
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15-Aug-16

31-May-16

NAME

2015-16
Expense
Performance
Long -term
All pensionpayments
pay and bonuses performance
related
(bands of
(Taxable) to
pay and bonuses
benefits
£5,000) the nearest £100
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
£5000)
£5000)
£2,500)
£000
£00
£000
£000
£000

TITLE

Salary

Dates served
Total
Commenced

Ceased

£5000)
£000

VOTING MEMBERS
Executive Directors
Dr Rob Gerlis
Clare Morris 1
Dean Westcott
Dr Christine Moss
Jane Kinniburgh
Dr Kamal Bishai
Dr Amik Aneja2
Dr Angus Henderson2
Dr Sanjeev Rana2
Dr Janet West2
Dr Duncan Forsyth
Toni Coles
Peter Wightman

Chair and GP Member
80-85
115-120
Chief Officer
105-110
Director of Finance, Contracting and Performance / Deputy Chief
Officer
Clinical Director
50-55
Director of Nursing and Quality
95-100
Clinical Vice Chair/GP Member
45-50
5-10
GP Member
25-30
GP Member
35-40
GP Member
10-15
GP Member
Secondary Care Consultant
5-10
Director of Transformation
95-100
Director of Primary Care & Localities
95-100

Chris Martin3

Integrated Commissioning Director
Director of Commissioing & Integration

Sheila Norris

3

Lay Members
Stephen King
Jackie Sully
Pauline Quinn

Lay member, Governance and Deputy Chair
Lay member, PPE
Lay members, Quality

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
27.5-30
2.5-5
0-2.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2.5-5
15-17.5

80-85
140-145
105-110
50-55
95-100
45-50
5-10
25-30
35-40
10-15
5-10
95-100
110-115

01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13
17-Mar-14
01-Apr-13
27-Jul-15
27-Jul-15
27-Jul-15
27-Jul-15
01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13

0

0

0

0

0

0

16-Sep-13

01-Nov-15

0

0

0

0

0

0

01-Nov-15

31-Mar-16

15-20
5-10
5-10

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

15-20
5-10
5-10

01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13
01-Apr-13

0

0

0

0

0

0

01-Apr-13

0

0

0

0

0

0

20-May-14

NON VOTING MEMBERS
Dr Maggie Pacini 3
Councillor Cutmore3

Consultant, Public Health
Member of Essex County Council

1

Clare Morris left West Essex CCG on 31st March 2015 and was replaced by Andrew Geldard who started in April 2016.

2

GP Member who joined the Governing Body on 27th July 2015.

3

Remuneration provided by Essex County Council.
Only GP members who are members of the Board have been included in this table.
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31-Mar-16

Pension benefits as at 31 March 2017
Subject to Audit

Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown
relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which
disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension
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scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result
of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and
Faculty of Actuaries.
Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the
increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses
common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office
No compensation of money or other assets have been made to any individual on early
retirement or for loss of office who was not a senior manager during the financial year but
has previously been a senior manager at any time.

Payments to past members
No payments of money or other assets have been made to any individual who was not a
senior manager during the financial year but has previously been a senior manager at any
time.
Pay multiples
Subject to Audit
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.

2016/17
£125k to
£130k
£34,314

2015/16
£115k to
£120k
£34,876

Ratio of highest paid director / member to median paid
employee

3.7

3.4

No. of employees who were paid more than the highest
paid director / member

0

0

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director /
member
Median remuneration of the CCG workforce
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Remuneration ranges in the year

£0k to
£130k

£0k to
£120k

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

The 2016-17 figures for banded remuneration of the highest paid director and ratio of highest
paid director have increased due to the appointment of the Highest paid Director. The
remuneration for this appointment was within NHSE guidelines (Clinical Commissioning
Groups: Remuneration guidance for Chief Officers (where the senior manager also
undertakes the accountable officer role) and Chief Finance Officers)

STAFF REPORT
Number of senior managers
Count of Level

Gender

Level

Female

Senior Manager

Male
40

Grand Total
27
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Staff numbers and costs
Subject to Audit
Employee Category

Headcount

%

FTE

Full Time

77

61.60

77.00

Part Time

48

38.40

29.80

100.00

106.80

Grand Total

125
st

The number is 125. This is taken from 31 March 2017 and does not include office holders.
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Employee benefits and staff numbers
2016-17

Total

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

£'000

£'000

£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

5,008

4,681

327

521

521

0

520

520

0

6,049

5,722

327

0

0

0

6,049

5,722

327

0

0

0

6,049

5,722

327

Staff composition

White - British

Band
2

Band
3

Band
4

Band
5

Band
6

Band
7

Band
8a

Band
8b

Band
8c

Band
8d

Band
9

Medical
Staff

VSM

4

4

10

13

11

5

13

11

9

2

1

3

6

White - Irish

1

White - Any other White background

3

White English

1

Mixed - Any other mixed background
Asian or Asian British - Pakistani
Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi
Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian
background

1

1

2

1

1

1

1

6
2

1
1
1

1

Black or Black British - African

1

1

1

1

3

1

3

1

Any Other Ethnic Group

2
1

Not Stated
Grand Total

1

1
1

Black or Black British - Caribbean

1
4

6

11

17

92
1

3

Asian or Asian British - Indian

Grand
Total

1

2

2

1

2

1

15

13

19

14

10

2
3

1

8

The figure of 127 has been cited here as the figures include multiple assignments – i.e., dual roles.
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11
6

127

Sickness absence data
Statistics
Published by
NHS Digital
from ESR Data
Warehouse

Figures Converted by
DH to Best Estimates
of Required Data
Items

Name

OCS code

NHS West Essex CCG 07H

Average FTE 2016

Adjusted FTE days
Average Sick
lost to Cabinet
Days per FTE
Office definitions

102

919

9.0

FTE-Days
Available
37,066

FTE-Days recorded
Sickness Absence
1,490

Staff policies
Under the CCGs Recruitment and Selections Policy (Reference WECCG75) the following
provisions can be found, to support the recruitment and retention of a diverse workforce..
This policy is designed to:
"support managers in providing a fair, consistent and effective approach to the recruitment of
all employees and to help managers deal with recruitment and selection effectively and
consistently". (Paragraph 1.1).
Further, it reaffirms that: "NHS West Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) actively promotes
equality of opportunity for all and welcomes applications from a wide range of
candidates" (Paragraph 1.2)
The following provisions are cited for making reasonable adjustments:
"3.30 The need for reasonable adjustments to the role will need to be discussed with the
individual concerned. Where it is agreed that reasonable adjustments need to be made this
should be discussed with Occupational Health and the HR Representative involved in the
recruitment process.
3.31 To aid the assessment on reasonable adjustments for individuals, the recruiting
manager must complete the CCG’s pro forma (see HR portal on intranet) with the candidate
concerned."

Equality

The CCG is committed to equal opportunities and recruits under the Equality the Two Ticks
– positive about disabled people scheme. This ensures that every prospective applicant who
confirms they have a disability as defined under the Equality Act, are guaranteed an
interview if they meet the essential criteria for the post as defined in the person specification.
Our Equality and Diversity and Human Rights Policy for Staff provides that all employees,
whether part-time, full-time or temporary, will be treated fairly and with respect. Selection for
employment, promotion, training or any other benefit will be on the basis of aptitude and
ability.
Our commitment is to create an environment in which individual differences and the
contributions of all staff are recognised and valued. Training, development and progression
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opportunities are available to all staff. All employees will be helped and encouraged to
develop their full potential and the talents and resources of the workforce will be fully utilised
to maximise the efficiency of the CCG.

Expenditure on Consultancy

201617
Total

201617
Admin

2016-17
Programme

£'000

£'000

£'000

537

140

397

201516
Total

201516
Admin

2015-16
Programme

£'000

£'000

£'000

905

87

818

Off-payroll engagements
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that
last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017

10

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting
for between one and two years at the time of

7
reporting

1

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

2

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0
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Up until the end of March 2017 this CCG has not sought assurance that the individual is
paying the right amount of tax. However the CCG obligations changed following the revised
position on IR35.

Table 2: New off-payroll engagements
For all new off-payroll engagements between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for more
than £220 per day and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in

7

duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017
Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving
West Essex CCG the right to request assurance in relation to income tax

0

and National Insurance obligations
Number for whom assurance has been requested

0

Of which:
assurance has been received
assurance has not been received
engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received.

0

Table 3: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 2017.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the

0

financial year
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.
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17

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
There were no exit packages during the financial year of 2016-2017.

4

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

West Essex CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit
Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and
fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report where
appropriate at . An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at
Appendix 2.
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ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

Entity name:
This year
Last year
This year ended
Last year ended
This year commencing:
Last year commencing:

NHS West Essex CCG
2016-17
2015-16
31-March-2017
31-March-2016
01-April-2016
01-April-2015

NHS West Essex CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17
CONTENTS

Page Number
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Statement
Statement
Statement
Statement
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of Financial Position as at 31st March 2017
of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended 31st March 2017
of Cash Flows for the year ended 31st March 2017

Notes to the Accounts
Accounting policies
Other operating revenue
Revenue
Employee benefits and staff numbers
Operating expenses
Better payment practice code
Operating leases
Property, plant and equipment
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Contingencies
Financial instruments
Operating segments
Related party transactions
Events after the end of the reporting period
Financial performance targets

1
2
3
4

5-9
10
10
11-13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
21
22-23
23
24-25
26
26

NHS West Essex CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2017
Note
Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income

2
2

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

(1,384)
(1,826)

(2,307)
(1,524)

(3,210)

(3,830)

6,287
373,587
20
379
236
380,509

5,660
353,922
20
(6)
287
359,882

Net Operating Expenditure

377,299

356,052

Total Net Expenditure for the year

377,299

356,052

Total operating income
Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

The notes on pages 5 to 26 form part of this statement.

1

NHS West Essex CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Financial Position as at

2

NHS West Essex CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2017
General
fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Balance at 01 April 2016

(20,743)

(20,743)

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2017

(20,743)

(20,743)

(377,299)

(377,299)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year (377,299)

(377,299)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

Net funding

380,796

380,796

Balance at 31 March 2017

(17,247)

(17,247)

General fund
£'000

Total reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Balance at 01 April 2015

(24,849)

(24,849)

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2016

(24,849)

(24,849)

(356,052)

(356,052)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year (356,052)

(356,052)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Net operating costs for the financial year

Net funding

360,157

360,157

Balance at 31 March 2016

(20,743)

(20,743)

The notes on pages 5 to 26 form part of this statement

3

NHS West Essex CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2017
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Increase in trade & other receivables
Decrease in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

(377,299)
20
(1,422)
(2,377)
379
(380,699)

(356,052)
20
(712)
(2,354)
(6)
(359,104)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment

(62)

(39)

Net Cash Inflow Outflow from Investing Activities

(62)

(39)

(380,760)

(359,142)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received

380,796

360,157

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities

380,796

360,157

36

1,015

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

18

(997)

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

54

18

5
10
12
13

Net Cash Outflow before Financing

Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents

11

The notes on pages 5 to 26 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements
1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5.1

1.5.2

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the
Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group
Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group
Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies
adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered
material in relation to the accounts.
Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis (despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State for Health under
Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014).
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements.
If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting
Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year
transactions (which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities
account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer
within the public sector. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to
income and expenditure entries.
Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act
2006 the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of
the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
·
The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
·
The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;
·
The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the clinical
commissioning group recognises:
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.
Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of
applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
- Since 2015/16 the clinical commissioning group has operated a Better Care Fund (BCF) together with Essex County Council
under a section 75 agreement. This arrangement has been reviewed and both parties have agreed that it does not constitute a
pooled fund. This conclusion has been reached as both parties retained the financial risks associated with each of the schemes
as existed before the fund was set up.
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting
- For the provision regarding CHC responsible commissioner billing. As these cases span a number of prior Years the Trust has been
prudent in assuming 50% recovery of these amounts.
·
Retrospective Continuing Healthcare Claims (CHC), where a provision has been made based on the number of claims received.
The provision is based on the expected number of days for the claim period at the average daily rate for CHC, an adjustment is then applied
for the average number of cases approved through panel and the average number of days actually awarded at panel.
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1.6

1.7
1.7.1

1.7.2

1.8

1.9
1.9.1

1.9.2

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of
the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit
scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical
commissioning group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement,
regardless of the method of payment.
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme
assets and liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s accounts.
The assets are measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in the liability arising from
pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets
is recognised within finance income. The interest cost during the year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is
recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the General Reserve and reported as an item of
other comprehensive net expenditure.
Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the
fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are
under single managerial control; or,
·
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective
cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are
treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the
asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All
assets are measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial
position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be
determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
·
Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·
Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it
would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value.
Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in
existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation
decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation
reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a
clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
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1.9.3

1.10

1.11

1.12

1.13

1.14

1.15

1.16

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where
subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the
item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible noncurrent assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or
service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to
obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the
physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes
recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible
non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that
arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been
determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it
is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·
Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (previously: minus 1.55%)
·
Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (previously: minus 1.%)
·
Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (previously: minus 0.80%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and
has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main
features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the
restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of
the entity.
Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to
the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the
NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical
commissioning group.
Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of
particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March
2013. Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.
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1.17

1.18

1.18.1

1.18.2

1.18.3

1.18.4

1.19

1.19.1

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present
obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is
disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of
trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have
expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·
Held to maturity investments;
·
Available for sale financial assets; and,
·
Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss
incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset.
[Disclose how fair value is determined.]
Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of
the other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the
exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.
[Disclose how fair value is determined.]
Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised
using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
[Disclose valuation techniques as appropriate.]
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to
the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair
value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised
in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the
carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial
liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·
The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
·
The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.
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Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with
any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest
payable on the financial liability.

1.19.3

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.
Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input
tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised
purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
Losses & Special Payments

1.20

1.21

1.22

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared
with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which
would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance
premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016-17, all of
which are subject to consultation:
·
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments ( application from 1 January 2018)
·
IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts ( not applicable to DH groups bodies)
·
IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
·
IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016-17, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2016-17
Total

2016-17
Admin

2016-17
Programme

2015-16
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

1,384
1,826
3,210

12
7
19

1,372
1,820
3,192

2,307
1,523
3,830

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is cash drawn down directly into the bank
account of the Clinical commissioning Group (CCG) and credited to the General Fund
3 Revenue

From rendering of services
Total

2016-17
Total
£'000
3,211
3,211

2016-17
2016-17
Admin
Programme
£'000
£'000
19
3,192
19

3,192

2015-16
Total
£'000
3,830
3,830

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2016-17

Total
£'000

Total

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme

5,247
521
520

4,919
521
520

327
0
0

Gross employee benefits expenditure

6,287

5,960

327

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
6,287

0
5,960

0
327

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
6,287

0
5,960

0
327

4.1.1 Employee benefits

2015-16

Total
£'000

Total

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme

4,737
403
519

4,614
403
519

123
0
0

Gross employee benefits expenditure

5,660

5,536

123

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
5,660

0
5,536

0
123

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
5,660

0
5,536

0
123

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
The CCG had no recoveries in respect of employee benefits.

11

NHS West Essex CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17
4.2 Average number of people employed
2016-17
Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

2015-16
Other
Number

Total
Number

107

101

6

102

0

0

0

0

2016-17
Number
919
102
9

2015-16
Number
932
104
9

The table above details the average number of Whole time equivalents during the year.
4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

There were no early retirements on the grounds of ill health (nil in 2015-16)

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
There were no exit packages agreed in the financial year 2016-17 (nil in 2015-16)
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and
rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit
schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England
and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body
of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at
the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial
reporting purposes. The valuation of scheme liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2016, updated to 31
March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed
in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are
published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account
their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The
Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM
Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed
appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April
2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension
Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this
‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary
of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
For 2016-17, employers’ contributions of £519,822.33 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2015-16: £519,214.52) were
payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of
note 4.1.
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5. Operating expenses
2016-17
Total
£'000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

2016-17
Admin
£'000

2016-17
Programme
£'000

2015-16
Total
£'000

5,615
673
6,287

2,738
513
3,251

2,877
160
3,036

4,962
698
5,660

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Depreciation
Audit fees
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions

2,441
100,386
167,590
13
52,448
235
135
2,673
537
981
0
1,809
1
20
65
41,570
1,921
731
64
379
223

616
1
11
0
0
235
0
595
140
164
0
452
1
17
65
0
0
135
38
0
0

1,824
100,384
167,579
13
52,448
0
135
2,078
396
817
0
1,356
0
4
0
41,570
1,921
596
26
379
223

2,292
96,926
155,639
29
52,352
287
337
(80)
905
887
1
1,611
0
20
65
41,266
785
304
45
(6)
558

Total other costs

374,222

2,470

371,752

354,223

Total operating expenses

380,509

5,721

374,788

359,882

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Internal audit fees are included in Other professional fees.
Since 2015/16 the clinical commissioning group has operated a Better Care Fund (BCF) together with Essex County Council
under a section 75 agreement. This arrangement has been reviewed and both parties have agreed that it does not constitute a pooled fund.
This conclusion has been reached as both parties retained the financial risks associated with each of the schemes as existed before the
fund was set up. The clinical commissioning groups expenditure on BCF in 2016-17 was £19.309m (£18.72m 2015-16)
The arrangements for each scheme within the Better Care Fund have been reviewed to determine the appropriate accounting treatment by
the clinical commissioning group and Essex County Council. Control of the commissioning arrangements has been key to determining the
nature of each scheme within the fund.
Where Essex County Council has been identified as acting as Lead Commissioner or Principal the accounting treatment has been for the
transaction with Essex County council to be recorded in the clinical commissioning group ledger (£7.167m). Where the clinical commissioning
has control over the commissioning of the service the transactions with the individual provider(s) are recorded in the ledger (£12.142m).
The majority of the increase in Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies relates to payments made to Essex County Council for the Better
Care Fund.
The increase in in expenditure with NHS Trusts relates to increased activity.
The increase in establishment costs relates to purchase of IT equipment for GP surgeries. This was purchased from the Estates, Technology
and Transformation Fund (ETTF) which was introduced in 2016-17 to increase investment in Primary Care IT and premises, ETTF funding was
provided by NHS England.
The increase in GPMS/APMS and PCTMS is due to increased investment in primary care, comprising of increase in Enhanced services,
increase in transformation investment and investment in neighbourhood teams.
The reduction in Consultancy services is due to reduced expenditure associated with integrated care.
The increase in professional fees is due to increased legal fees in Continuing Healthcare and fees relating to the Sustainability
and transformation plan work.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2016-17
Number

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
Number

2015-16
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

10,504
10,114
96.29%

78,782
76,814
97.50%

9,588
9,236
96.33%

72,566
71,114
98.00%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

3,536
3,428
96.95%

277,106
274,775
99.16%

3,883
3,506
90.29%

259,634
257,012
98.99%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
There were no Interest charges for late payment of commercial Debts (nil in 2015-16)
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
West Essex CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Ltd (NHS PS). Whilst our arrangements with NHS PS
fall within the definition of operating leases, discussions are still ongoing regarding a lease. Consequently, this note does not include
future minimum lease payments for these arrangments.
7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

2016-17
Buildings
Other
£'000
£'000

Land
£'000

Total
£'000

2015-16
Buildings
Other
£'000
£'000

Land
£'000

Total
£'000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments

0

374

14

387

0

94

10

104

Total

0

374

14

387

0

94

10

104

The increase in Building leases is due to NHS Property services moving to charging based on market rents.
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8 Property, plant and equipment

Plant &
machinery
£'000
27

Information
technology
£'000
92

Additions purchased

(0)

62

62

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2017

27

153

180

Depreciation 01 April 2016

4

59

62

Charged during the year

4

17

20

Depreciation at 31 March 2017

8

75

83

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

19

78

98

Purchased

19

78

98

Total at 31 March 2017

19

78

98

Owned

19

78

98

Total at 31 March 2017

19

78

98

2016-17
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2016

Total
£'000
119

Asset financing:

9 Economic lives
Minimum
Life (years)
Plant & machinery
Information technology

0
0

Maximum
Life (Years)
7
3
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10 Trade and other receivables

Current
2016-17
£'000

Non-current
2016-17
£'000

Current
2015-16
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

2,082
161
2,343
330
85
369
16
1
5,387

Total current and non current

5,387

3,965

0

0

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Non-current
2015-16
£'000

2,324
121
1,273
208
0
0
35
2
3,965

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to
CCG's to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
10.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

1,127
(7)
11
1,131

430
301
2
733

£348k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The CCG does not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2017 (nil in 2015-16)

10.2 Provision for impairment of receivables
Following a review of receivables a £377k provision was made for a 50% impairment of Responsible commissioner
Debtors. (nil in 2015-16)
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11 Cash and cash equivalents
2016-17
£'000
Balance at 01 April 2016
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2017

18
36
54

2015-16
£'000
(997)
1,015
18

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service

54

18

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

54

18

Balance at 31 March 2017

54

18

The CCG holds no patients money (nil in 2015-16)
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12 Trade and other payables

Current
2016-17
£'000

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

7,196
1,117
2
3,179
8,263
30
79
162
76
0
1,956
22,060

Total current and non-current

22,060

Non-current
2016-17
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Current
2015-16
£'000

Non-current
2015-16
£'000

7,897
1,658
2
4,280
8,084
0
57
0
67
17
2,374
24,437

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

24,437

Included above are liabilities of 0, due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5
years (nil in 2015-16).
Other payables include £79,035 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017 (£74,172 at 31 March 2016)
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13 Provisions

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Continuing care

725

0

0

346

Total

725

0

0

346

Total current and non-current

725
Continuing
Care
2016-17
£'000

Balance at 1st April

346

Total
2016-17
£'000

Continuing Care
2015-16

Total
2015-16

346

346

352

352

725
(346)

725
(346)

0
(6)

0
(6)

Balance at 31 March 2017

725

725

346

346

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years

725

725

0
346

0
346

Balance at 31 March

725

725

346

346

Arising during the year
Reversed unused

For the Retrospective redress provision of £190k, there is a 60-90% probability that a liability to the CCG will crystalise during the next
12months for the 18 cases identified. The CCG has based this provision on an expected value basis of the maximum liability.
For the Assessment Backlog Provision of £158k, there is a 50% probability that a liability to the CCG will crystalise during the next 12
months for the 18 cases identified. The CCG has based this provision on an expected value basis of the maximum liability.
A provision of £377k has been made for recharges where West Essex have previously paid for CHC cases that that have been
identified as the responsibility of another CCG. The provision is based on a 50% probability of the recharge made to 7 CCGs for
prior years (2015/16, 2014/15 and 2013/14) not being recovered.
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for
liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the clinical
commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare
provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2017 is £1.445m (2015/16 £8.639m).
14 Contingencies

Contingent liabilities
Per the reporting requirements under IAS27, the Clinical Commissioning Group had no contingent liabilities at 31 March 2017 .
(2015/16 Two contingent liabilities, NHS Property Services Services £3.1m and The Princess Alexandra NHS Trust £1.0m, these were both
resolved in favour of the CCG)
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15 Financial instruments
15.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk
faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of
listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow
or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to
change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by
the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.
15.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
15.1.2 Interest rate risk

The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS
England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans
Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
151.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
15.1.4 Liquidity risk

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources
voted annually by Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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15 Financial instruments cont'd
15.2 Financial assets
Loans and
Receivables
2016-17
£'000
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2017

4,425
699
54
1
5,179
Loans and
Receivables
2015-16
£'000

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2016

3,598
208
18
2
3,826

Total
2016-17
£'000

4,425
699
54
1
5,179

Total
2015-16
£'000

3,598
208
18
2
3,826

15.3 Financial liabilities
Other
2016-17
£'000

Total
2016-17
£'000

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS

8,313
13,398

8,313
13,398

Total at 31 March 2017

21,711

21,711

Other
2015-16
£'000

Total
2015-16
£'000

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS

9,556
14,737

9,556
14,737

Total at 31 March 2016

24,293

24,293

16 Operating segments
The CCG and consolidated group consider they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services
as reported in the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
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17 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
2016-17
Local
Enhanced
Other
Total
Receipts Amounts Amounts
Service
Payments Payments
from
owed to due from
Payments to to Related to Related Related Related Related
Related
Party
Party
Party
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
Abridge surgery
Addison house surgery
Angel Lane surgery
Barbara Castle health centre
Chigwell medical Centre (Dr K Bishai, vice chair)
Church Langley medical centre
Crocus Practice
Eden surgery Hatfield Heath
Elsenham surgery
Forest practice
Gold Street surgery
Hamilton practice
High Road Loughton
High Street surgery
John Tasker house
Keyhealth Medical centre
Kings Medical Centre
Lister house
Loughton health centre
Market Square surgery
Maynard Court
Moss CE & partners ( DR C Moss, medical Director)
Nazeing Valley health centre
Newport surgery
Nuffield House
Old Harlow health centre
Ongar health centre
Ongar surgery
Osler surgery
Rainbow Services Harlow
Stanstead
Steeple Bumpstead
Stellar Healthcare Ltd
Sydenham House
Taylor & Briggs surgery
Thaxted surgery
The Limes medical centre
The Ross practice (Dr R Gerlis, CCG chair)
Uttlesford Health Ltd

7

2

9

0

5

0

54

9

63

0

17

0

42
21
51
69
104
42
39
79
83
53
38
11
93
6
30
68
44
58
44
25
3
69
67
47
85
15
3
0
86
9
0
11
21
105
144
51
0

7
4
12
15
8
8
4
10
11
8
7
5
26
5
7
13
9
7
5
4
2
9
19
12
8
0
2
3
60
2
1469
3
3
9
20
6
385

49
25
63
84
112
50
43
89
94
61
45
16
119
11
37
81
53
65
49
29
5
78
86
59
93
15
5
3
146
11
1469
14
24
114
164
57
385

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

12
8
15
25
42
13
16
28
24
20
16
7
30
6
10
30
15
17
7
9
4
24
86
19
31
4
4
0
27
5
13
10
16
30
41
25
33

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant
number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and
other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Essex County Council, Harlow District
Council, Epping Forest District Council, Uttlesford Council and Herts County Council.
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17 Related party transactions cont
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

Abridge surgery
Addison house surgery
Angel Lane surgery
Barbara Castle health centre
Chigwell medical Centre (Dr K Bishai, vice chair)
Church Langley medical centre
Eden surgery Hatfield Heath
Elsenham surgery
Forest practice
Gold Street surgery
Hamilton practice
High Road Loughton
High Street surgery
Hodkinson & partners ( Dr A Hodkinson, vice chair)
John Tasker house
Keyhealth Medical centre
Kings Medical Centre
Lister house
Loughton health centre
Market Square surgery
Maynard Court
Moss CE & partners ( DR C Moss, medical Director)
Nazeing Valley health centre
Newport surgery
Nuffield House
Old Harlow health centre
Ongar health centre
Ongar surgery
Osler surgery
Rainbow Services Harlow
Rectory practice
Stanstead
Steeple Bumpstead
Stellar Healthcare Ltd
Sydenham House
Taylor & Briggs surgery
Thaxted surgery
The Limes medical centre
The Ross practice (Dr R Gerlis, CCG chair)
Uttlesford Health Ltd

2015-16
Local
Enhanced
Other
Total
Receipts Amounts Amounts
Service
Payments Payments
from
owed to due from
Payments to Related to Related Related
Related
Related
to Related
Party
Party
Party
Party
Party
Party
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
7
5
12
0
7
0
35
13
48
0
29
0
28
9
37
0
18
0
19
6
25
0
11
0
13
36
49
0
12
0
32
11
43
0
24
0
43
10
53
0
21
0
24
6
30
0
12
0
25
10
35
0
17
0
68
11
79
0
28
0
78
9
87
0
31
0
26
27
53
0
16
0
10
7
17
0
10
0
3
0
3
0
0
0
45
26
71
0
24
0
9
8
17
0
12
0
22
8
30
0
14
0
56
15
71
0
35
0
37
11
48
0
22
0
27
14
41
0
14
0
11
11
22
0
8
0
13
9
22
0
8
0
2
5
7
0
3
0
47
8
55
0
20
0
39
13
52
0
32
0
30
33
63
0
18
0
28
9
37
0
18
0
27
4
31
0
9
0
2
4
6
0
3
0
0
8
8
0
0
0
63
19
82
0
40
0
46
28
74
0
21
0
8
4
12
0
6
0
0
1257
1257
0
0
0
5
8
13
0
3
0
5
6
11
0
6
0
78
16
94
0
28
0
70
15
85
0
37
0
33
9
42
0
20
0
0
312
312
0
0
0
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18 Events after the end of the reporting period
NHS England recently announced details of the Clinical Commissioning Groups approved to take on greater delegated responsibility or to jointly commission
GP services from 1st April 2017.
The new primary care co-commissioning arrangements are part of a series of changes set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View. West Essex CCG has been
approved under delegated commissioning arrangements which mean that the CCG will assume full responsibility for contractual GP performance management,
budget management and the design and implementation of local incentive schemes from 1st April 2017.

19 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

2016-17
Target
388,205
63
384,932
0

2016-17
Performance
380,571
62
377,299
0

2015-16
Target
363,509
0
359,679
0

2015-16
Performance
359,882
0
356,052
0

0
6,550

0
5,703

0
6,651

0
4,542

As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1 percent reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside
the monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation
priorities to the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means.
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be
spent. Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS West Essex CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for the
year of £3.716m. This additional surplus will be carried forward for drawdown in future years.
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Appendix 1 -

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Sustainable Development
In January 2014 the NHS Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) jointly funded by NHS England and
Public Health England launched the new NHS Sustainable Development Strategy. This clarified and
recommitted all NHS organisations to delivering a sustainable health and social care system with
challenging targets and expectations.
Targets where then altered by the SDU in 2016 for organisations to aim to reduce their carbon footprint
by 28% from a 2013 baseline by 2020, this agreed new national level of ambition was put in place and
outlined in the Sustainable Development Strategy.
Using the SDU’s Good Corporate Citizen toolkit, which assesses organisational commitment to
Corporate Social Responsibility, West Essex CCG established a baseline measure in 2014. The
toolkit, together with corresponding guidance and information provided the framework from which the
CCG then developed a Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP). The SDMP helps us to
fulfil our commitment to conducting all aspects of our activities with due consideration to sustainability,
whilst providing high quality patient care.
The SDMP was developed, together with an accompanying Travel Plan, with input from external
sustainability focused partners and from the wider NHS community and was approved by the CCG
Board in November 2014.
Progress on an overarching action plan generated by our SDMP is reported to our Executive Committee
every six months and then to our Board by the Director of Finance, Contracting and Performance who
has organisational responsibility for this agenda.
On the 20th March 2017 the CCG received a letter from the SDU’s Director Dr David Pencheon in
recognition of excellent sustainability reporting for 2015 – 16; this supports demonstrating good use of
resources, mitigating negative environmental impacts and maximising positive impact locally for patients
and public health. The CCG was one of forty CCGs and forty trusts selected for recognition out of 450
organisations across England.
During 2016 – 17 West Essex CCG has successfully completed actions identified against objectives in
the following key areas:
Reducing energy use
Reducing paper use
Raising staff awareness – facilities management
Awareness – procurement
Awareness – corporate approach
Preparing for all eventualities - adaptation
The CCG has developed a Green Travel Plan to reduce car use and provide improved travel options for
our employees; whilst the plan will offer alternatives to car travel, it is recognised that other options may
not always be practical and have therefore accommodated, as far as is practicable, for issues such as

distance. The CCG will encourage staff to utilise the plan and look for alternatives to individual car use
in order to contribute to reducing pollution and congestion as well as supporting climate change actions.
This plan covers staff journeys to and from work and travel within the working day for business
purposes. NHS England’s figures show that procurement is responsible for 60% of the overall carbon
emissions of the NHS. As a commissioning group it is our responsibility to work to reduce our own
carbon footprint in this area. In order to achieve this aim, the CCG will use our commissioning and
contracting processes to embed principles of sustainability into our provider organisations.
There are a number of actions we can and will take, including to continue working with the SDU team to
improve understanding across the organisation, in order to embed better principles of sustainability and
work to reduce our carbon footprint. Our SDMP also includes the following actions:
The review of all new pathways of care with sustainability at the core.
Establishing, within the procurement process, that contracts chosen will have also
have the organisations commitment to mitigating their carbon emissions taken into
consideration. In places we will work with the supplier to agree sustainable
development targets.
West Essex CCG has self-assessed against the Good Corporate Citizenship (GCC) tool for the past
four years and the results are tabled below. The tool provides indicators of how well organisations are
doing in social, environmental and financial terms and gives a measure of how sustainable an
organisation is. Our overall score has made a small increase of 1% to 49% overall from 48% last year.
See Table 1 below for a breakdown of these results by each element.
Table 1 Good Corporate Citizen self-assessment results –
Element
Corporate Approach
Travel
Procurement
Facilities
Management
Workforce
Community
Engagement
Buildings
Adaptation
Models of Care

April 2014
17%
15%
21%
5%

April 2015
33%
28%
27%
50%

April 2016
33%
30%
32%
62%

April 2017
33%
25%
37%
62%

35%
60%

56%
74%

64%
77%

66%
77%

17%
17%
80%

48%
17%
82%

51%
31%
85%

52%
41%
85%

Whilst the results are encouraging with four of the nine elements showing improvement, four have
remained static and the travel element has declined, so there is still much to do. The plan is for each
element to be taken forward using the indicators within the GCC as action points to attain progress
against them.
West Essex CCG has, for the first time, published it’s GCC self-assessment results for 2016 – 17 and,
as a result, we will now be able to benchmark ourselves against similar organisations.
As part of the Sustainable development in the health and care system Health Check 2017 (published
January 2017) NHS Property Services made a commitment that over the next twelve months they will
begin supplying energy use data to their tenants so that we can take proactive action on managing
consumption. We have requested data relating to utilities for 2016 -17, on energy use by type and
amount to show our estimated total carbon footprint, together with total waste breakdown by type and

weight – however these are not available at the time of this report and will be added as an addendum to
the Annual Report once received.
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APPENDIX 3
GLOSSARY
There is a financial terms table below this one
Non-Financial Terms
Term
A&E
Care pathway

Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG)

Civil Contingencies Act 2004

Commissioning
Community services

Commissioning Support Unit
(CSU)

Enhanced services

Equality Delivery System
(EDS)

Equality Impact Assessment

Definition
Accident and Emergency Department
The route that a patient will take from their first point of
contact with an NHS or Social Services member of
staff (usually their GP), through referral, to the
completion of their treatment.
Formally established on 1 April 2013, Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are statutory bodies
responsible for commissioning most healthcare –
planning, buying and monitoring services to meet the
needs of their local communities.
Provides a single framework for UK civil protection
against any challenges to society – it focuses on local
arrangements and emergency powers.
The review, planning and purchasing of health and
social services.
Health or social care and services provided outside of
hospital. They can be provided in a variety of settings
including clinics and in people's homes. Community
services include a wide range of services such as
district nursing, health visiting services and specialist
nursing services.
Commissioning Support Units will provide capacity to
clinical commissioners as an extension of their local
team to ensure that commissioning decisions are
informed and processes structured. This approach will
help achieve economies of scale and allow clinical
commissioning groups to focus on direct
commissioning of services for their patients.
Enhanced services are:
i) essential or additional services delivered to a higher
specified standard, for example, extended minor
surgery
ii) services not provided through essential or additional
services
They are services provided by GPs, over and above
the core (essential and additional) services to their
patients.
The EDS has been designed nationally as an optional
tool launched in 2011 to support NHS commissioners
and providers to deliver better outcomes for patients
and communities and better working environments for
staff, which are personal, fair and diverse. The EDS is
all about making positive differences to healthy living
and working lives.
An equality impact assessment involves assessing the

(EIA)

Individual Funding Requests
(IFR)

Information Management
and technology (IM&T)
Mixed sex accommodation
breach

NHS111

Palliative Care

Primary Care Trust (PCT)

Referral To Treatment (RTT)

likely or actual effects of policies or services on people
in respect of disability, gender and racial equality. It
helps us to make sure the needs of people are taken
into account when we develop and implement a new
policy or service or when we make a change to a
current policy or service.
An Individual Funding Request (IFR) is a request to
fund healthcare for an individual who falls outside the
range of services and treatments that the CCG has
agreed to commission.
NHS Central Eastern CSU IM&T provides west Essex
with IM&T solutions including IT services, project
management, training, and information management.
Department of Health policy states that patients in any
areas of hospital care should not have to share
sleeping accommodation and sanitary facilities with
members of the opposite sex. However, they do
recognise that in exceptional circumstances – as when
patients need very specialised or urgent care –
provision of fast, effective care for the patient may take
priority over ensuring the same sex accommodation. If
this does occur, it must be in the interest of all the
patients affected and not result from the constraints of
the environment or the convenience of staff.
NHS 111 is a new service introduced to make it easier
for people to access local NHS healthcare services.
People can call 111 when they need medical help fast
but it’s not a 999 emergency. NHS 111 is available 24
hours a day, 365 days a year. Calls are free from
landlines and mobile phones.
The total care of patients whose disease is incurable.
Control of pain, of other symptoms, and of
psychological, social and spiritual problems is
paramount. The goal of palliative care is achievement
of the best quality of life for patients and their families.
Primary Care Trusts were abolished on 31 March
2013. Prior to that they were responsible for the
planning and securing of health services and
improving the health of the local population.
Under the NHS Constitution, patients ‘have the right
to access services within maximum waiting times, or
for the NHS to take all reasonable steps to offer a
range of alternative providers if this is not possible’.
Data is monitored against the standards set out in the
NHS Operating Framework.

Glossary of financial terms
Term
Accounting Policies

Budget

Capital Expenditure

Capital Resource Limit

Cash Limit

Revenue Resource Limit

Depreciation

Impairments

Definition
The Accounting Policies are the accounting rules
that the CCG has followed in preparing its
accounts. These policies are based on
International Financial Reporting Standards and
the Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual. The
Department of Health’s Manual for Accounts and
Capital Accounting Manual detail how these rules
should apply to CCGs. One of the main policies is
that income and expenditure is recognised on an
accruals basis, meaning it is recorded in the period
in which services are provided even though cash
may or may not have been received or paid out.
A Budget usually refers to a list of all planned and
expected future expenses and revenues. A budget
is set at the beginning of the financial year.
Capital Expenditure is money spent on buying
non-current assets (fixed assets) or to add to the
value of an existing fixed asset with a useful life
that extends beyond a year.
The Capital Resource Limit (CRL) is the amount
allocated each year to the CCG for capital
expenditure. The CCG must not spend more than
the CRL on capital items.
The Cash Limit (CL) is a limit set by the
Government on the amount of cash which a CCG
may spend during a given financial year. The CCG
must ensure that the net amount of cash flowing
out of the CCG over the financial accounting period
is not more than the CL.
The Revenue Resource Limit (RRL) is the total
amount that the CCG may spend on the services
that it commissions. This limit is set for the CCG at
the start of the financial year by the Department of
Health and may change on a monthly basis
depending on changes to allocations to the CCG
from the Strategic Health Authority for either
commissioning or provider functions. Each CCG
has a statutory duty not to spend more than its
RRL. The RRL takes into account all accrued
income and expenditure irrespective of whether
income has been received or bills paid.
Depreciation refers to the fact that assets with
finite lives lose value over time. Depreciation
involves allocating the cost of the fixed asset (less
any residual value) over its useful life to the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
(SCNE). This will cause an expense to be
recognised on the SCNE while the net value of the
asset will decrease on the Statement of Financial
Position.
Impairments are the losses in the values of non-

Intangible Assets [formerly
Intangible Fixed Assets]

International Financial Reporting
Standards

Losses and Special Payments

NHS Payables (formerly known
as NHS Creditors)
Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure (formerly known as
Operating Cost Statement)

Over Spend

current assets compared to those values recorded
on the Statement of Financial Position. A CCG is
required to undertake routinely revaluation reviews
of its fixed assets or undertake an impairment
review when there is a decline in an asset’s
value. The impairment (loss) is treated in the same
way as depreciation, as a cost in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure (SCNE), if the
change in the value of the asset is permanent.
Intangible Assets are invisible or ‘soft’ assets of
an organisation that, nevertheless, have a real
current market value and contribute to the (future)
operation/income generation of the organisation
and may include software licences, trademarks and
research development expenditure.
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) are the international accounting standards
that the Department of Health require CCGs to
follow when they prepare their accounts. 2009-10
was the first year in which CCGs were required to
prepare IFRS compliant accounts, having
previously used UK reporting standards.
Losses and Special Payments are payments that
Parliament would not have foreseen healthcare
funds being spent on, for example fraudulent
payments, personal injury payments or payments
for legal compensation.
An NHS Payable is an amount owed to an NHS
organisation for services rendered or goods
supplied to the CCG or to patients of the CCG.
The Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure (SCNE) records the costs incurred by
the CCG during the year, net of miscellaneous
income (which is income other than the CCG’s
main funding from the Department of Health which
is credited to the general fund on the Statement of
Financial Position and not treated as income on the
SCNE). It includes non cash expenses such
as depreciation.
Under government accounting rules the SCNE
shows the net resources used by the CCG in
commissioning and providing healthcare rather
than the surplus or deficit for the year as shown in
the income and expenditure account by NHS
trusts. The comprehensive net expenditure is
debited to the general fund on the Statement of
taxpayer’s equity.
Over Spend occurs when more money is spent
than was allowed within the cash limit, revenue
resource limit or capital limit, or that was planned in
the budget.

Pooled budget

Procurement

Property, plant and equipment
(formerly Tangible Fixed Assets)

Provisions

Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity (formerly
Statement of Recognised Gains
and Losses)

Statement of Financial Position
(formerly Balance Sheet)

Tendering

Trade and other Payables (NonNHS) (formerly known as NonNHS Creditors)

A Pooled Budget is a joint arrangement with other
bodies, such as local authorities and other CCG’s,
to pool funds for a specific purpose. Each body has
to account for its own contribution to the pool within
their accounts. Contributions would generally
include the resources normally used for the
identified services, together with partnership and
other grants specific to the services. The host
partner will manage the financial affairs of the
pooled fund. The pooled budget manager is
responsible for managing the pooled fund on
behalf of the host authority, and for providing
information to enable the partners to monitor the
effectiveness of the pooled fund arrangements.
Procurement is the acquisition of goods and/or
services, generally through a contract, at the best
possible total cost, in the right quantity and quality,
at the right time and in the right place for the direct
benefit of the CCG and its patients.
Property, plant and equipment are assets that
individually (or with integrally linked other items)
cost more than £5,000 and are held for longer than
one year and include: land, buildings, transport
equipment, IT and furniture and fittings.
A Provision is a liability arising from a past event
where it is probable the CCG will have to settle and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount to
be paid.
The Statement of Cash Flows (SCF) shows the
effect of the CCG’s operating activities on its cash
position.
The purpose of the Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity is to highlight financial
transactions that may not be reflected in the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, but
which affect the CCG’s reserves as shown in the
“Financed by” section on the Statement of
Financial Position. For example,
“(Reduction)/Additions in the General Fund due to
the transfer of assets to/from NHS bodies and the
Department of Health”.
The Statement of Financial Position provides a
view of the CCG’s financial position at a specific
moment in time – usually the end of the financial
year. It shows assets (everything the CCG owns
that has monetary value), liabilities (money owed to
external parties) and taxpayers’ equity (public
funds invested in the CCG).
Tendering is the process by which one can seek
prices and terms for a particular service/project to
be carried out under a contract.
Trade and other Payables Creditors are nonNHS organisations owed money by the CCG for
goods and services provided to the CCG, e.g. for

utilities, equipment, etc.
Trade and other receivables
(formerly Debtors)

Under Spend

Trade and other receivables represent money
owed to the CCG at the Statement of Financial
Position date for services rendered or goods
supplied by the CCG to the receiver.
Under Spend occurs when less money is spent
than was allowed within the cash limit or that was
planned in the budget.

